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The FAOA has the duty to safeguard 
and foster audit quality within the 
scope of its licensing and oversight 
activities. The FAOA thereby protects 
investors1 and other users of audit 
reports (tax authorities, creditors, em-
ployees etc.). Furthermore, the work 
of the FAOA increases the reliability of, 
and confi dence in, fi nancial reporting. 
In relation to the strategic aims of the 
FAOA it should be noted, however, that 
the FAOA is primarily a legal authority 
that enforces the audit, independence 
and quality assurance standards devel-
oped by the profession. 

State-regulated audit fi rms 

The FAOA currently oversees 23 (prior 
year 22) state-regulated audit fi rms 
entitled to audit public companies. 
On the one hand, two fi rms were 
granted new licences. Both of these 
new licences result from the require-
ment, effective as from 28 February 
2014, that audit fi rms who audit 
collective investment schemes hold 
a basic licence as a state-regulated 
audit fi rm. On the other hand, one 
fi rm voluntarily withdrew from state 
oversight.

As in prior years, the majority of 
state-regulated audit fi rms report 
largely stagnant fee income in the 
audit business area. Generally, only 
advisory business generates apprecia-
ble growth. Long-term there is a risk 
that the audit industry will become 
increasingly less attractive in such an 
environment. This could negatively 
impact audit quality. 

The international audit networks are 
increasingly struggling with reputa-
tional risks arising from their tax ad-
visory businesses. Increased public 
interest in the tax optimisation prac-
tices of large international groups 
also brings the large audit networks 
into focus. It should be noted that the 
FAOA basically has no authority with 
respect to the advisory businesses of 
audit fi rms. 

New FAOA responsibilities

Until now oversight of state-regulated 
auditors and auditors of fi nancial insti-
tutions has been shared between the 
FAOA and FINMA according to their 
respective duties. With parliament’s 
adoption of the «bundling submission» 
on 20 June 2014 the FAOA has sole 
oversight authority over audit fi rms. 
This applies both to the fi nancial and 
regulatory audit. The enabling legisla-
tion could be amended on a timely ba-
sis by the Federal Council (Ordinance), 
respectively the FAOA and FINMA 
(Circulars), such that the FAOA could 
assume the new oversight responsibil-
ities according to plan as per 1 January 
2015. The transitional rules provided 
ensure that the affected audit fi rms 
and auditors-in-charge have suffi cient 
time to adjust to the new situation.

Audit committees of listed 
companies

The FAOA has a great interest in the 
functioning of the audit committees 
of listed companies. An active and 
responsible perception of the duties 
of the audit committee has a demon-
strably positive impact on the quality 
of audit services. This corresponds 
with the experience of the FAOA from 
its inspection activities.

The «Swiss Code of Best Practice», as 
revised in 2014, is an important step 
towards strengthening the audit com-
mittee. The extended recommenda-
tions on the composition and duties 
of the audit committee are particular-
ly welcome. It remains questionable, 
however, whether recommendations 
developed within a self-regulatory 
framework will be suffi cient to pro-
duce a fi nancial centre that is modern 
and attractive by international stand-
ards. Important players such as the 
EU or the USA go much further and, 
based on the importance of audit 
committees and the interest of inves-
tors, enact binding and enforceable 
requirements at the legislative level.

EU Audit Reform

The European Parliament adopted 
the EU Audit Reform in April 2014. 
The reform aims to increase trans-
parency and confi dence in the audit, 
eliminate possible confl icts of inter-
est, and foster greater competition in 
the over-concentrated audit market. 
The new regulations are also likely to 
affect the Swiss audit market. They 
will display extra-territorial properties 
and will be of particular relevance to 
Swiss audit fi rms who audit EU-listed 
companies or their Swiss subsidiaries. 
Internationally-orientated companies, 
respectively their audit committees, 
will also lean further towards the EU 
requirements voluntarily.

The FAOA is analysing the EU re-
form and observing its implementa-
tion in the larger EU member states. 
Strengthening the position and re-
sponsibilities of audit committees and 
extending the audit report to share-
holders appears sensible. 

The FAOA currently sees no urgent 
need to take action in relation to the 
EU restrictions on non-audit fees. It is 
to be emphasised that the FAOA in-
troduced a more stringent reporting 
requirement as per 1 January 2014. 
Thus audit engagements must be 
reported to the FAOA if the ratio of 
non-audit to audit fees reported in 
the annual report of the respective 
audited public company exceeds 1:1 
in a fi nancial year (Circular 1/2010). 
The FAOA can check compliance with 
independence requirements in an ef-
fective and risk-based way based on 
this reporting.

Foreword

Foreword | FAOA 2014

1 Gender-neutral terms have been used 
for reasons of simplifi cation. They apply 
equally to both genders.
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The FAOA views the EU rotation re-
quirements for auditors of public 
companies critically. On the one hand, 
the advantages of rotation, such as 
those relating to a creeping loss of 
objectivity, may be eliminated by the 
disadvantages associated with the 
acquisition of a mandate by a new 
auditor (additional costs etc.). On the 
other, rigid rotation rules should not 
replace the duty of the board of di-
rectors or audit committee to review 
the audit mandate periodically based 
on set criteria and, if necessary, rec-
ommend a change in auditor to the 
general meeting of shareholders.

Independence in the limited audit

Independence is the cornerstone of 
the audit and essential to the confi-
dence of third parties in the auditor’s 
work. Under current court rulings 
basically the same independence re-
quirements apply to the ordinary and 
limited audit. The only exceptions 
relate to accounting assistance (Art. 
729 para. 2 CO; so-called dual man-
dates) and to the rotation of the audi-
tor-in-charge (Art. 730a para. 2 CO).

The FAOA regards the idea of reduc-
ing independence requirements for 
the limited audit as dangerous. This 
could reduce the credibility of the lim-
ited audit and harm the public repu-
tation of the small and medium-sized 
audit market. Confidence in the audit 
is more valuable long-term than uni-
lateral protection of the profession. 
The audit profession and the FAOA 
should have a common interest in a 
«quality product limited audit», which 
sets itself apart from bare bookkeep-
ing and thus adds economic value.

Independence in the ordinary 
audit

The effect of the statutory rotation 
requirements for ordinary audits 
will make itself evident for the first 
time in 2015. The statutory rotation 

term of seven years for the audi-
tor-in-charge has been effective since 
1 January 2008 (Art. 51 AOO). As 
from that time an auditor-in-charge 
has been able to audit the same au-
dit client for seven consecutive years. 
Therefore, where the financial year is 
equivalent to the calendar year, that 
auditor-in-charge is to be replaced in 
2015, after the audit of the 2014 fi-
nancial statements. It is consequently 
to be expected that some companies 
will have to elect another auditor, 
particularly in the sole practitioner au-
dit firm segment.

Quality assurance systems

Under the relief that currently applies 
to sole practitioner audit firms per-
forming only limited audits, around 
two thirds of all licensed audit firms 
do not have to prove that they have 
a quality assurance system by 1 Sep-
tember 2016 (Art. 49 para. 2 AOO). 
This relief is being re-considered at 
the moment. The FAOA is currently 
in discussion with the professional 
bodies and other interested parties in 
this regard. In the interest of equal-
ity between audit firms this could 
mean that all audit firms will have to 
operate an internal quality assurance 
system as from 1 September 2016. 
This would also apply to the so-called 
sole practitioner audit firms with only 
one licensed individual. As the audit 
industry now provides possible solu-
tions to sole practitioners the possible 
abolition of the above-mentioned re-
lief would be welcome.

Foreword | FAOA 2014
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We thank all FAOA staff for their con-
tinuingly high level of commitment 
and willingness to deal with the tasks 
ahead in the public interest.

Berne, 27 January 2015

Thomas Rufer
Chairman of the Board of Directors

Frank-Oliver Schneider
Chief Executive Offi cer

Foreword | FAOA 2014

Thomas Rufer, Chairman of the Board of Directors, and Frank-Oliver Schneider, Chief Executive Offi cer
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Key activities 2014

Oversight of state-regulated audit 
firms

As regards the oversight of audit 
firms permitted to audit public com-
panies, the focus was on two joint in-
spections with the PCAOB. A further 
ten state-regulated audit firms were 
inspected in addition to this. Parallel 
to the inspections internal processes 
were prepared for the assumption of 
new responsibilities in the financial 
markets area (regulatory audit). As 
from 1 January 2015 the oversight of 
state-regulated audit firms will be car-
ried out from an organisational per-
spective by two separate operational 
areas, financial and regulatory audit. 

Licensing

The AOA stipulates that audit firms 
are licensed for a period of five years. 
Granted licences expire automatically 
at the end of these five years. In 2014 
the FAOA had around 2,000 licence 
renewal applications to process. The 
applications processed in the report-
ing year represent around 60% of all 
licensed audit firms.

The risk-based inspection of internal 
systems of quality assurance is central 
to the renewal process, regard being 
paid to whether the audit firm per-
forms limited and/or ordinary audits. 
Aside from making a general assess-
ment, the FAOA focuses its checks 
upon key aspects of independence, 
training and the internal monitoring 
of ordinary audits. Licence renewal 
is primarily used by the legislator to 
ensure that a licensed audit firm has 
complied with legal requirements. 
Alongside this, the inspection of qual-
ity assurance systems plays an impor-
tant role in improving audit quality.

Most expired licences could be re-
newed seamlessly for a further five 
years. In a few cases renewal condi-
tions were not met or required doc-
umentation was outstanding. No re-
newal applications were definitively 

rejected as the firms in question were 
able to meet the legal requirements 
in the meantime. For various reasons 
(e.g. reorganisation, cooperation 
with other audit firms, absence of a 
successor, focus on other business ar-
eas) around 15% of audit firms have 
voluntarily forgone licence renewal. 

Seamless licence renewal is important 
as a break in licensing can lead to the 
audit clients of an unlicensed audit 
firm receiving a direct request from 
the office of the cantonal commercial 
register to restore legal order and en-
sure that the auditor has the relevant 
FAOA licence.

Court rulings

In the reporting year the Federal Ad-
ministrative Court and the Federal Su-
preme Court dealt with FAOA practice 
in seven and two rulings respectively. 
The practice of the FAOA was con-
firmed in all cases. In one case only 
the point of principle was confirmed 
by the Federal Administrative Court 
and a more detailed explanation for 
the length of a licence withdrawal 
was demanded. 

International cooperation

A Statement of Protocol (SoP) for co-
operation in the oversight of audit 
firms was agreed with the PCAOB in 
2011. In particular, the SoP forms the 
basis for the execution of joint inspec-
tions in Switzerland and the USA. The 
relationship between the two author-
ities has deepened and developed 
positively over the past years, such 
that the SoP could be extended in 
April of the reporting year.

Three further important Memoran-
dums of Understanding on coopera-
tion in the audit oversight area could 
be concluded in 2014, namely with 
Finland, the UK and Canada. 

Third party information

In the reporting year the FAOA re-
ceived 31 (prior year 33) third party 
notifications of possible violations of 
law or professional law. Eligible and 
credible notifications lead to FAOA 
fact-finding. Independence beaches 
and auditing without a proper licence 
were the most common types of re-
ported violation as in prior years.

Key activities 2014 | FAOA 2014
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Current projects
Financial Market Infrastructure Act

With the dispatch on the Financial 
Market Infrastructure Act (FMIA) of 
3 September 2014 the Federal Coun-
cil sent a submission to parliament 
which regulates the fi nancial market 
infrastructure and the obligations of 
fi nancial market participants with 
respect to securities and derivatives 
trading. The following points are of 
particular interest for the audit indus-
try:

− The fi nancial market infrastructures 
and fi nance groups must appoint 
an FAOA-licensed auditor to per-
form a regulatory audit (Art. 84 
D-FMIA in combination with Art. 9a 
para. 1 AOA and Art. 24 FINMASA). 
Financial market infrastructures are 
stock exchanges, multi-lateral trad-
ing systems, central counterparties, 
central depositories, transaction 
repositories and payment systems 
(Art. 2 indent a D-FMIA). Two or 
more entities, of which at least one 
is an active fi nancial market infra-
structure, that are primarily active 
in the fi nance area, form a single 
economic entity, or for which due 
to other circumstances it can be 
assumed that one or more of the 
entities under individual oversight is 
legally obliged or in practice com-
pelled to support group entities, 
qualify as fi nance groups (Art. 15 
para. 2 D-FMIA).

− The statutory auditor (Art. 727 f. 
CO) audits whether counterparties 
have complied with FMIA provi-
sions. At entities subject to FINMA 
oversight the audit follows fi nancial 
market legislation. This is subject to 
divergent provisions relating to the 
oversight and supervision of occu-
pational retirement, survivors and 
disability pension plans (Art.115 
D-FMIA). The statutory auditor is 
now required to audit compliance 
with the following obligations:

− Trades in derivatives that are not 
handled through a trading cen-
tre (OTC derivative trades) must 
be cleared through a FINMA-ap-
proved or recognised central 
counterparty (Art. 96 f. D-FMIA).

− Derivative trades must be re-
ported to a FINMA-approved or 
recognised transaction repository 
(Art. 103 f. D-FMIA).

− The operational and counterpar-
ty risks of OTC derivative trades 
that are not cleared through a 
FINMA-approved or recognised 
central counterparty must be 
recorded, monitored and mini-
mised (Art. 106 f. D-FMIA). 

− Certain derivatives must be trad-
ed through a FINMA-approved 
or recognised trading centre or 
through an approved or rec-
ognised operator of an organ-
ised trading system (Art. 111 f. 
D-FMIA).

Financial Institutions Act

The Financial Institutions Act (FinIA) 
regulates the supervision of all fi nan-
cial services providers providing any 
form of asset management services 
in one uniform ordinance. The dis-
patch is expected to be published in 
mid-2015. For the audit profession 
the following Federal Council propos-
als are of particular interest, leading 
to further development of the «bun-
dling submission»:

− Asset managers will be supervised 
for the fi rst time. The Federal Coun-
cil puts forward two models for 
discussion: In the fi rst variant asset 
managers would be supervised by 
the oversight authority (AO) un-
der the FINMASA. Qualifi ed asset 
managers2, fund management 
companies, investment companies 
and banks would, by contrast, be 
supervised by FINMA. In the event 
that there is no AO, FINMA would 

take on responsibility for supervi-
sion (Art. 81 PD-FinIA). In the sec-
ond variant fi nancial institutions 
under FinIA would be supervised by 
FINMA (Art. 82 PD-FinIA). Qualifi ed 
asset managers, fund management 
companies, investment companies, 
banks, fi nance groups and fi nancial 
conglomerates must appoint an 
FAOA-licensed audit fi rm (Art. 9a 
para. 1 PD-AOA). The other asset 
managers must appoint an audit 
fi rm with an FAOA auditor licence 
(Art. 6 in combination with Art. 
9a para. 4 PD-AOA) to perform a 
periodic audit (Art. 83 PD-FinIA). 
The Federal Council can set milder 
licensing conditions for audit fi rms 
and auditors-in-charge that au-
dit fi nancial intermediaries (Art. 2 
para. 3 AMLA) and asset managers 
(Art 9a para. 4 PD-AOA). State-reg-
ulated audit fi rms that provide au-
dit services only to asset managers 
will be inspected by the FAOA every 
fi ve years. In justifi ed cases the 
FAOA can extend the inspection cy-
cle (Art. 16 para. 11bis PD-AOA).

− State-regulated audit fi rms will 
now be licensed for an unlimited 
period (Art. 7 para. 3 PD-AOA).

− In the AMLA area organisations 
which ensure that auditors ap-
pointed by them to perform con-
trols are licensed by the FAOA will 
be recognised as self-regulatory or-
ganisations (SRO) (Art. 24 para. 1 
indent d PD-AMLA in combination 
with Art. 9a PD-AOA). An SRO un-
der AMLA notifi es the FAOA of all 
irregularities and transfers all doc-
umentation concerning an audit 
fi rm that is required by the FAOA 
in fulfi lling its duties (Art. 25a PD-
AMLA).

Regulatory developments

Regulatory developments | FAOA 2014

2 A qualifi ed asset manager is one who 
manages assets on behalf of, and for the 
account of, collective investment schemes 
(asset manager collective assets) or man-
ages assets of Swiss pension funds (Art. 21 
para. 1 D-FinIA).
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Federal Financial Services Act 

The Federal Financial Services Act 
(FFSA) creates uniform competition 
rules to improve customer protection. 
The ordinance includes rules for all fi-
nancial services providers with respect 
to the provision of financial services 
and the offer of financial instruments. 
In addition, it will be made easier for 
clients to press their claims against 
financial services providers. Consul-
tation on the preliminary draft took 
place together with that on FinIA. 
The dispatch is also expected in mid-
2015. The law has no immediate con-
sequences for the audit profession. 
However, audit firms that perform 
regulatory audits at asset managers 
(whether qualified or not) will have to 
audit compliance with the following 
duties in particular: Duty to provide 
information (Art. 7 f. PD-FFSA), duty 
to assess the suitability and appropri-
ateness of financial services (Art. 10 f. 
PD-FFSA), duty to document and be 
held accountable (Art. 15 f. PD-FFSA), 
duty to be transparent and exercise 
due care (Art. 17 f. PD-FFSA), organ-
isational duties (Art. 21 f. PD-FFSA) 
and duties around customer advisors 
(Art. 28 f. PD-FFSA).

Swiss Civil Code amendment

On 28 November 2014 the Federal 
Council sent the updated preliminary 
draft of the Swiss Civil Code amend-
ment for consultation, which lasted 
until 15 March 2015. From an audit 
perspective the following are worthy 
of mention:

−	Should the board of directors pro-
pose to the general meeting that 
the currency in which the share 
capital is denominated be changed, 
a licensed audit expert must con-
firm that that the share capital is 
also fully covered after the change 
(Art. 621 para. 3 section 2 PD-CO).

−	The audit of a capital decrease now 
encompasses not only testing that 
the claims of creditors can still be 
met but also whether there is a rea-
sonable concern the company may 
become insolvent within the next 
12 months (Art. 653m para. 3 PD-
CO). It is now possible to waive the 
presence of the audit expert at the 
general meeting (Art. 653m para. 3 
PD-CO).

−	In the preliminary draft a so-called 
«capital band» has been intro-
duced, though this is only permis-
sible if the company has an auditor 
(Art. 653s para. 1 and 727a para. 2 
PD-CO). Should the «base capital» 
be set below the share capital dis-
closed in the commercial register, 
analogous to the audit of a capital 
decrease, a licensed audit expert 
must prepare an audit report (Art. 
653w para. 1 section 2 PD-CO).

−	The repayment of the capital re-
serve (share premium, profit on 
share forfeiture, capital contribu-
tion) is only permissible where a 
licensed audit expert, based on the 
balance sheet, confirms in writing 
that after the repayment neither 
the claims of creditors are at risk 
of not being met nor is there a 
reasonable concern that the com-
pany may become insolvent within 
the next 12 months. The presence 
of the audit expert at the general 
meeting can, however, be waived 
(Art. 671 para. 3 PD-CO).

−	The general meeting can resolve 
to pay an interim dividend when, 
amongst other things, the interim 
balance sheet (which may not be 
more than six months old) is audited 
by the auditor before the resolution 
of the general meeting is passed 
(Art. 675a para. 2 PD-CO). It follows 
that interim dividends cannot be 
paid by companies that have waived 
the audit (Art. 727a para. 2 PD-CO). 
The interim balance sheet is subject 
to the same limited or ordinary audit 
as the annual financial statements. 

−	If there are reasonable concerns 
that the company may become in-
solvent within the next 12 months 
the board of directors must, 
amongst other things, prepare a li-
quidity plan for the next 12 months. 
If this shows that there is no risk of 
insolvency a licensed auditor must 
test the plausibility of the plan and 
report to the board. In doing so the 
auditor must act with due haste 
(Art. 725 para. 3 and 5 PD-CO). The 
same procedure applies analogous-
ly to the three cases of capital loss 
(Art. 725a PD-CO) and by reasona-
ble concerns regarding over-indebt-
edness (Art. 725b PD-CO). 

−	Properties and participating inter-
ests whose actual value has risen 
above purchase price or production 
cost can be revalued up to the for-
mer amount to eliminate a capital 
loss or over-indebtedness. How-
ever, this is only permissible if a li-
censed auditor confirms in writing 
to the general meeting that the le-
gal provisions have been complied 
with (Art.725c para. 2 CO, equat-
ing to the current Art. 670 CO). 

−	In independence law it is clarified 
that provisions concerning inde-
pendence also apply to companies 
that are controlled by the audited 
company or the auditor. The man-
agement principle is thereby re-
placed by the control principle (Art. 
728 para. 6 PD-CO).

−	The auditors of listed companies 
now audit whether the remunera-
tion report complies with the law 
and statutes (Art. 728a para. 1 sec-
tion 4 PD-CO).

−	The general meeting now cannot 
dismiss the auditor without precon-
dition but only for important rea-
sons (Art. 730a para. 4 PD-CO). 

−	Individuals with auditor liability who 
have contributed to a loss through 
carelessness alone are liable up 
to the amount that they would 

Regulatory developments | FAOA 2014
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have had to meet in the event of 
recourse (so-called differentiated 
joint-liability, Art. 759 para. 2 PD-
CO).

− In private limited company law a 
legislative oversight is eliminated 
whereby a separate group auditor 
is to be appointed alongside the 
auditor (Art. 804 para. 2 section 3 
PD-CO).

− The interim balance sheet is gen-
erally prepared according to the 
same principles and standards as 
the annual fi nancial statements; 
An inventory count is, however, not 
required and valuations performed 
at the last balance sheet date need 
only be amended for changes in 
book amounts; though write-offs, 
provisions and accruals made in 
the meantime, as well as signifi cant 
changes in value that are not evi-
dent from the books of account do 
have to be accounted for (Art. 960f 
PD-CO).

− The book value consolidation is 
abolished but with this the consol-
idation thresholds for total assets, 
revenue and staff numbers are sig-
nifi cantly increased, doubling from 
20/40/250 to 40/80/500 (Art. 
963a para. 1 section 1 in combina-
tion with Art. 963b para. 3 and 4 
PD-CO). 

Completed projects
Bundling submission

The FAOA and FINMA previously 
shared responsibility for the oversight 
of state-regulated audit fi rms and the 
auditors of fi nancial institutions. This 
concerns the same audit fi rms, who 
perform audits in different industries 
and with different roles. To avoid un-
necessary duplication both authorities 
were obliged to coordinate their over-
sight activities. 

Several years’ practical experience 
showed that this system had a range 
of weaknesses that could best be 
eliminated by consolidating oversight 
responsibilities within one authority. 
For this reason, on 28 August 2013 
the Federal Council presented to par-
liament a submission on the «bun-
dling» of oversight authority over au-
dit fi rms. It was proposed to transfer 
sole responsibility for the oversight 
of audit fi rms to the FAOA. This ap-
plies to both the fi nancial audit and 
the regulatory audit. The National 
Council adopted the legal submission 
after a relatively brief discussion with 
162 votes to 35 and the Council of 
States with 40 to one (with one ab-
stention)3. With this the following re-
sponsibilities transferred to the FAOA 
on 1 January 2015:

− Licensing: The FAOA assumes sole 
responsibility for licensing and 
now rules on audit fi rms and au-
ditors-in-charge requiring a special 
law licence in the fi nancial mar-
kets sector. However, this does not 
apply to the audit fi rms and audi-
tors-in-charge that audit fi nancial 
intermediaries where these inter-
mediaries have joined an SRO un-
der AMLA.

− Oversight: The FAOA has sole re-
sponsibility for the oversight of 
audit fi rms in the fi nancial and 
regulatory audit areas. This also 
now applies to the audit work 
of state-regulated audit fi rms at 
banks, stock exchanges, securities 
traders, insurers, mortgage bond 
institutions, collective investment 
schemes and fi nancial intermediar-
ies directly supervised by FINMA. It 
is irrelevant whether these are pub-
lic companies or not. The status of 
«public interest entity» is now deci-
sive.

− Enforcement: As oversight and 
sanctioning cannot be separated, 
the responsibility for sanctioning 
audit fi rms and auditors-in-charge 
was also transferred to the FAOA. 

The content and standards of the 
regulatory audit at fi nancial insti-
tutions will continue to be deter-
mined by FINMA, while the FAOA 
is responsible for the recognition of 
fi nancial audit standards. 

− International administrative assis-
tance: The FAOA is solely respon-
sible for future international ad-
ministrative assistance in the audit 
oversight area. This way a uniform 
and effi cient procedure vis-à-vis 
foreign oversight authorities can be 
established. However, requests to 
the FAOA for administrative assis-
tance cannot be used to obtain in-
formation and documentation over 
fi nancial institutions that could not 
otherwise be obtained from FIN-
MA. The same applies to joint in-
spections. 

With the concentration of all over-
sight responsibilities under the FAOA 
staff resources and technical expertise 
will also be concentrated in one au-
thority, which will further profession-
alise oversight over the audit industry. 
FINMA will gain independence in its 
dealings with audit fi rms. This will im-
prove the interchange between the 
audit fi rms and FINMA over problems 
at fi nancial institutions under over-
sight. Furthermore, duplication can 
be eliminated and effi ciency gains 
achieved for audit fi rms. 

The impending legislative changes 
made a series of changes to enabling 
law necessary. The relevant proposals 
were the subject of a hearing with 
affected parties, held from 8 August 
to 8 September 2014. For practical 
reasons two hearings took place, one 
regarding the enabling law of the 
Federal Council (total amendment of 
the FINMAO and part amendment of 
the AOO) and one regarding the en-
abling law of the FAOA (amendment 
of OO-FAOA as well as FAOA Circular 
1/2007, 1/2008 and 1/2010). The 

Regulatory developments | FAOA 2014
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amendments at the enabling law lev-
el also came into force on 1 January 
2015 and include the following signif-
icant points:

− Auditing standards for the perfor-
mance of regulatory audits (Art. 5 
FINMAO) 

− Incompatibilities with regulatory 
audits (Art. 7 FINMAO)

− Duty to rotate for auditors-in-charge 
of regulatory audit engagements 
(Art. 8 FINMAO)

− Listing of FAOA, respectively SRO, 
licences for the regulatory audit of 
banks, stock exchanges, securities 
traders, mortgage bond centres, in-
surers, entities regulated under the 
Collective Investment Schemes Act 
(CISA) and of fi nancial intermediar-
ies under the direct supervision of 
FINMA (Art. 11a AOO) 

− Clarifi cation of the legal licensing 
conditions (Art. 11b–11l AOO), in-
cluding concessions for the licence 
to audit fi nancial intermediaries un-
der the direct supervision of FINMA 
(Art. 11i, 11j and 11k AOO)

Supervision of Health Insurance Act

On 26 September 2014 the Federal 
Councillors adopted the Supervision 
of Health Insurance Act (KVAG). The 
new law closes various gaps in health 
insurance law by introducing im-
provements in the areas of, amongst 
others, the fi nancial security and 
management of health insurers, the 
responsibilities of the oversight au-
thorities (FOPH) and the penal provi-
sions. 

In the appendix to the KVAG it is 
clarifi ed that the FAOA and the oth-
er Swiss oversight authorities must 
share all information and transfer all 
documentation to each other as is 
necessary for the enforcement of the 
respective law (Art. 22 para. 1 AOA 

new 2014 edition). With this the 
question to be asked in the future is 
not the less than effective one as to 
whether an oversight authority can 
be a «special law oversight authority» 
(see Art. 22 para. 1 AOA 2005 edi-
tion), but rather the more to the point 
question as to whether the requested 
information is really needed by the re-
questing authority to enforce the law. 
The referendum deadline lasted until 
15 January 2015. 

Circular 1/2014

An internal quality assurance system 
is the sum of all measures and stand-
ards which ensure that the legal and 
professional law requirements relat-
ing to the provision of audit services 
are met. The practical importance of 
the internal quality assurance system 
is so great that its existence is a li-
censing condition for audit fi rms (Art. 
6 para. 1 indent a AOA and Art. 9 
AOO).

Professional law also stipulates a duty 
to maintain internal quality assurance. 
The relevant requirements arise from 
the standards that the profession de-
velops under self-regulation. In prac-
tice it is, however, not always clear 
which standards apply to which audit 
services. Circular 1/2014 on internal 
quality assurance within audit fi rms 
creates new legal certainty by clarify-
ing which of the standards applies in 
which situation, in terms of minimum 
requirements. No requirements as to 
the content of quality assurance are 
created; self-regulation is maintained. 

Public consultation on the circular ran 
from 9 September 2014 to 9 October 
2014. The circular came into force on 
1 January 2015 but contains a series 
of transitional provisions.

Federal law on the implementa-
tion of the FATF recommendations 
amended in 2012 

On 12 December 2014 the Federal 
Councillors approved the amendment 
of the pronouncement on combating 
money laundering to bring it into line 
with the recommendations of the Fi-
nancial Action Task Force (FATF), as 
amended in 2012. It is now stipulated 
that natural and legal persons who 
deal in goods and accept cash (so-
called traders, Art. 2 para. 1 indent b 
AMLA) do not have the formal status 
that fi nancial intermediaries have but 
still have a duty of care under AMLA if 
they accept more than CHF 100,000 
in cash. This includes the identifi ca-
tion of the counterparty, establishing 
the identity of the benefi cial owner 
and the preparation of documenta-
tion. In addition, under qualifying cir-
cumstances the background and pur-
pose of the business must be clarifi ed 
(Art. 8a para. 1 and 2 AMLA). The 
traders must also engage an auditor 
to check that these duties have been 
met. Auditors under Article 5 AOA or 
audit fi rms under Article 6 AOA, with 
the necessary technical expertise and 
experience (Art. 15 paras. 1 und 2 
AMLA), can be engaged as auditor. It 
is yet to be decided when the regula-
tion will come into force. 

The new audit obligation was intro-
duced into the submission at short 
notice, which may explain the follow-
ing inconsistencies: 

− First, it was overseen that small 
companies can waive the appoint-
ment of an auditor (so-called opt-
ing-out, Art. 727a CO). It makes 
little sense for traders to have to 
appoint an auditor under CO pure-
ly to audit compliance with the 
above-mentioned duties under 
AMLA. It was presumably meant 
that an audit fi rm would be ap-
pointed for this audit.

Regulatory developments | FAOA 2014
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− Secondly, it is stipulated that a spe-
cial licence is required for all audits 
under AMLA, granted either by the 
FAOA (audit of fi nancial interme-
diaries directly supervised by FIN-
MA) or an SRO (audit of member 
fi nancial intermediaries). It is un-
clear why the new law refers only 
to necessary technical expertise and 
experience and not to this licence. 
Nevertheless, it can be said that 
whoever holds the above-men-
tioned licence has the necessary 
technical expertise and experience.

− Thirdly, it must be clarifi ed that only 
an audit fi rm can be appointed as 
auditor and not a natural person. 
A natural person that audits inde-
pendently must at least register a 
sole proprietorship in the commer-
cial register (Art. 2 indent a AOA 

in combination with Art. 8 para. 1 
AOO). 

It is to be hoped that one or the other 
point can be defi ned more precisely 
at the ordinance level.

Regulatory developments | FAOA 2014
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Oversight

Introduction

As at the end of 2014, 23 audit firms 
hold licences as state-regulated au-
dit firms. The market structure of 
the state-regulated audit firms has 
changed only insignificantly com-
pared to the prior year. The three 
largest audit firms in Switzerland – 
Ernst & Young AG, KPMG AG and 
PricewaterhouseCoopers AG (Big 3) 
– continue to audit the vast majori-
ty of Swiss quoted public companies, 
that is, around 85 percent by number 
or around 97 percent by market cap-
italisation. The two mid-sized Swiss 
audit firms – Deloitte AG und BDO 
AG – together audit around 10 per-
cent of public companies by number 
or around 3 percent by market capi-
talisation. Nine state-regulated audit 
firms audit around 5 percent of public 
companies by number (market capi-
talisation 0.2%). An additional nine 
firms are under FAOA oversight vol-
untarily or due to special law provi-
sions.

In the reporting year thematic reviews 
were performed for the first time, 
covering materiality, the audit of let-
terbox companies and the use of for-
eign shared service centres. 

As a result of the transfer of oversight 
authority over the financial audit of 
listed banks, insurance companies 
and collective investment schemes, 
the FAOA has reviewed the quality of 
audit work at several listed banks and 
insurance companies since Septem-
ber 2012. 

With respect to the «bundling» of 
oversight and the associated transfer 
of FINMA’s remaining responsibili-
ties to the FAOA (regulatory audit), 
over the last year the necessary or-
ganisational projects were initiated 
alongside the development of the 
legislative basis. Thus, both knowl-
edge transfer and the coordination of 
financial and regulatory audit inspec-
tion procedures, are assured. Follow-
ing the transfer of human resources 

from FINMA to the FAOA on 1 Janu-
ary 2015, the implementation of the 
regulatory audit concept is a primary 
goal of the FAOA in 2015. The FAOA 
aims to exercise effective audit firm 
oversight through efficient processes. 
To this end, financial audit processes 
already in place will be adopted as far 
as possible and tailored to the par-
ticularities of the regulatory audit. 

2014 inspections

Since the enactment of the AOA the 
FAOA has completed a total of 68 
inspections, of which 12 inspections 
were performed in the reporting year, 
two of these being joint inspections 
with the PCAOB.

The audits of 18 public companies 
were reviewed (file reviews) during 
the 12 inspections. Alongside these 
file reviews, selected individual as-
pects of a further 23 public company 
audits were covered as part of the-
matic reviews. 

The FAOA’s selection of audit en-
gagements for inspection is generally 
risk-based. The market capitalisation 
of public companies is one important 
selection criterion. 17 of 20 SMI com-
panies had been subject to an FAOA 
file review by 31 December 2014. 
Through this alone, the FAOA has al-
ready subjected audit work covering 
around 60 percent of total Swiss mar-
ket capitalisation to a file review. As 
from 2013 the quality of the financial 
audit at the two, from a global per-
spective, systemically important Swiss 
Banks (G-SIBs), UBS AG und Credit 
Suisse Group AG, has been assessed 
annually by way of a file review. 

In addition to market capitalisation, 
the FAOA considers other criteria, 
such as a major reduction in audit 
fees, a change of auditor or audi-
tor-in-charge coverage when select-
ing audit engagements for review. A 
modified audit report from a public 
company is a further criterion. 
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The increase in fi rm review fi ndings 
at the Big 3 results from the more 
comprehensive inspection procedures 
that were performed in this area, two 
fi rms being subject to a joint inspec-
tion with the PCAOB in 2014. With 
respect to the fi le reviews, it is still 
the case that audit quality depends 
heavily upon the partners and staff 
involved, as well as the environment 
(e.g. cooperation of the audit com-
mittee). Audit fi rms should therefore 
concentrate on fostering consistency 
in audit quality through the appropri-
ate measures.

Smaller state-regulated audit fi rms, 
whose quality assurance systems had 
previously been under SAS 220, were 
required to implement Swiss Quality 
Control Standard 1 (SQCS 1) by 15 
December 2013. The use of the re-
vised Swiss Auditing Standards (SAS) 
2013 of the Swiss Institute of Certi-
fi ed Accountants was also obligatory 
for the fi rst time for the audit of the 
2013 fi nancial statements. The imple-
mentation of SQCS 1 did not lead to 
a signifi cantly greater number of fi nd-
ings at the respective audit fi rms. By 
contrast, the FAOA noted room for 
improvement in the fi rst-time use of 
the revised SAS for the fi nancial state-
ments audit. Signifi cant fi ndings were 
made in such areas as risk assessment 
and the determination of a response 
to identifi ed risks. In particular, the 
identifi cation of, and response to, 

signifi cant risks was insuffi cient in 
some cases. Findings concerning the 
failure of the auditor to obtain suffi -
cient appropriate audit evidence for 
material fi nancial statement items are 
common.

Thematic inspections 2014

During the reporting year the FAOA 
carried out thematic inspections at 
the Big 3 audit fi rms for the fi rst time. 
An FAOA thematic inspection on a 
subject relevant to oversight includes 
an evaluation of the adequacy of a 
fi rm’s internal methodology, rules and 
guidance. In addition, a sample of 
audit engagements is selected to test 
whether the relevant requirements 
have been met for the chosen focus 
areas. The procedures carried out by 
the FAOA during a thematic inspec-
tion are limited to specifi c topics and 
are not comparable to those of an or-
dinary fi le review.

Materiality  

Audit fi rms are required to apply the 
concept of materiality both in plan-
ning and executing the audit. Mate-
riality is a key benchmark in assessing 
the impact of misstatements and in 
forming an audit opinion.

Overall Materiality: 
Information is material if omit-
ting it or misstating it could in-
fl uence decisions that users make 
on the basis of fi nancial informa-
tion about a specifi c reporting 
entity. To this end the auditor 
determines a materiality amount 
(cf. The Conceptual Framework 
for Financial Reporting issued 
by the International Accounting 
Standards Board).

The process of determining overall 
materiality and performance mate-
riality greatly infl uences the nature 
and scope of audit procedures and 
the assessment of the results of those 
procedures. 

Performance materiality: 
Performance materiality is low-
er than overall materiality The 
probability that the aggregate of 
uncorrected and undetected mis-
statements exceeds overall mate-
riality for the fi nancial statements 
as a whole is thereby reduced (cf. 
ISA 320.9).

Oversight | FAOA 2014

Figure 1
Overview of FAOA inspections and Comment Form fi ndings 2008–2014

Categories Big 3 Other Total

01.04.2008 
– 31.12.2014

of which 
2014 

01.04.2008 
– 31.12.2014

of which 
2014 

01.04.2008 
– 31.12.2014

of which  
2014 

Number of inspections 21 3 47 9 68 12

Comment Form 
Findings Firm Review 

66 11 223 21 289 32

Comment Form 
Findings File Review 

274 16 293 31 567 47

Number of inspected fi les 4 81 8 48 10 129 18

4 In each fi le review the FAOA selects the 
working papers that relate to the audit of 
the consolidated fi nancial statements (in-
cluding holding company) and the audit 
of a signifi cant subsidiary. Files covered by 
the thematic inspections are not included 
here.
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During this year’s inspections at the 
Big 3 the FAOA assessed the material-
ity methodology used and additional-
ly selected six group audits from vari-
ous industries and with various levels 
of earnings. The application of the 
materiality concept was thus tested in 
18 group audits by way of a thematic 
inspection.

The FAOA found signifi cant differenc-
es in the applicable benchmarks and 
potential ranges:

Figure 2
Materiality benchmarks and ranges for public companies under the methodologies of the Big 3 audit fi rms

Benchmark  Materiality in %

Firm A Firm B Firm C 

Profi t before tax (EBT) _<5 5 – 8 3–10

Profi t before interest and tax (EBIT) n.a. 5 – 8 n.a.

Profi t before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation 
(EBITDA)

_<2.5 2–3 n.a.

Gross profi t n.a. 1–2 n.a.

Revenue _<1 0.5 –1 0.5 – 3

Capital and reserves _<0.5 1–2 n.a.

Total assets _<1 0.5 –1 0.5 – 3

The methodologies of the Big 3 fi rms 
include criteria which support the 
choice of benchmark. For profi t-ori-
entated businesses the benchmark 
«profi t before tax» is normally used 
and materiality is set within the speci-
fi ed range. Numerous factors thereby 
infl uence the decision of the audi-
tor in setting materiality within the 
range. Generally, high risks of mis-
statement, complex processes, past 
errors or high regulatory risks lead 
to a lower materiality. The auditor’s 
materiality assessment must be doc-
umented and consistent with other 
risk assessment information.
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Figure 3
Percentages used for determining performance materiality at the Big 3 audit firms

Basis Firm A Firm B Firm C

Percentage of overall materiality 50–90 50 or 75 to 75

Oversight | FAOA 2014

The Big 3 have differing requirements 
on setting performance materiality. 
For example, at Firm A formal con-
sultation is required if an amount of 
50% or less is used. Generally pro-
fessional scepticism is to be applied in 
determining performance materiality 
and account is to be taken of past 
identified errors in setting the per-
centage.

The FAOA has the following com-
ments on the methodologies of the 
Big 3 with respect to the determina-
tion of overall and performance ma-
teriality: 

Auditing standards on materiality

The FAOA believes that the method-
ologies of the Big 3 meet the require-
ments of national and international 
auditing standards (SAS/ ISA 320 and 
SAS/ ISA 600). However, the deter-
mination of overall and performance 
materiality is to a great degree sub-
ject to the professional judgement 
of the auditor. So, for example, the 
criteria for selecting benchmarks and 
setting percentages within the ma-
teriality ranges are not binding. This 
margin of discretion may, on the one 
hand, be appropriate as the determi-
nation of overall and performance 
materiality has to take business and 
risk-specific elements into account. 
On the other, there is a danger that 
this significant level of discretion will 
lead to the choice of benchmark and 
applicable percentage being made in 
such a way that the highest possible 
materiality is determined, without 
taking specific risk factors sufficiently 
into account. 

The FAOA would welcome it if the 
audit firms would include indus-
try-specific requirements on the de-
termination of materiality within their 
methodologies.

Significant differences between 
audit firms

The audit firms have significantly dif-
ferent approaches towards the choice 
of benchmark and ranges in deter-
mining materiality. This is problemati-
cal given that the underlying auditing 
standards are the same and there is a 
common understanding that materi-
ality is central to planning, audit exe-
cution and forming an opinion upon 
reporting. The following example, in 
Figure 4, shows the significant differ-
ences possible in setting materiality 
on a group audit.
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Figure 4
Illustrative example of the determination of overall materiality at the Big 3 audit firms

Benchmark  in CHF mio. Overall materiality in CHF mio.

Firm A Firm B Firm C

Profit before tax 40 _<2 2– 3.2 1.2– 4

Profit before interest and tax (EBIT) 60 n.a. 3– 4.8 n.a.

Profit before interest, tax, depreciation and 
amortisation (EBITDA)

90 _<2.25 1.8 –2.7 n.a.

Gross profit 100 n.a. 1–2 n.a.

Revenue 120 _<1.2 0.6 –1.2 0.6 – 3.6

Capital and reserves 300 _<1.5 3– 6 n.a.

Total assets 700 _<7 3.5 –7 3.5 – 21

Overall materiality can therefore be 
very different even when using the 
same benchmark. Furthermore, it is 
evident that the choice of benchmark 
can have a significant effect on the 
level of materiality. These significant 
differences in materiality ultimately 
have significant effects on the au-
dit. For this reason the FAOA would 
welcome the disclosure of materiality 
in the comprehensive report to the 
board of directors and/or the sum-
mary report to the general meeting 
of shareholders. Such disclosure is 
particularly useful in understanding 
the depth and results of the audit or 
a change in auditor. Since the level of 
materiality should not vary so greatly 
between audit firms the FAOA sup-
ports the standard setters in re-eval-
uating their standards on materiality.

Adjustment for one-off items

In principle, it is permissible to take 
account of one-off items that alter 
the size of the benchmark. However, 
the FAOA has found that in some cas-
es recurring expenses (e.g. annually 
recurring restructuring provisions) are 
treated as one-off items. Since the ad-
justment for one-off items can have a 
significant effect on materiality more 
assurance should be obtained on the 

appropriateness of such adjustments 
in the future.

Differing requirements for group 
audits

The methodologies include differing 
requirements on the determination 
of component materiality. The rele-
vant standard (SAS/ ISA 600) requires 
only that component materiality is 
lower than group materiality. This 
results in significant differences be-
tween audit firms in the determina-
tion of component materiality, which 
itself influences the nature and scope 
of audit work. More detailed auditing 
standard requirements as to the de-
termination of component materiality 
would therefore be welcome.

Professional judgement

Since the deliberations made in se-
lecting the benchmark are subject to 
significant auditor professional judge-
ment they should be documented 
comprehensibly. In cases where the 
«profit before tax» benchmark was 
not used the exercise of professional 
judgement was not always compre-
hensible. The FAOA was particularly 
critical of a lack of documentation in 

cases where there was no evidence, 
or doubts existed, that the chosen 
materiality benchmark was also seen 
by analysts, other market players or 
comparable competitors as the rele-
vant benchmark.

Risk and other factors 

The determination of materiality 
should have regard to risk and other 
factors. Specific risks can arise from 
the ownership structure, industry, line 
of business and capital structure of 
the audited company. With high risk, 
materiality is set lower accordingly. 
However, the FAOA has found re-
peatedly that contrary to the require-
ments of the auditing standards and 
firm-internal methodologies, risks 
have not been appropriately taken 
account of in determining overall and 
performance materiality.
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5 Cf. FAOA FAQ «Prüfung von Briefkasten-
fi rmen».

Letterbox companies

Certain Swiss public companies have 
only a registered offi ce in Switzerland, 
those responsible for the supervision 
and management of the group, as well 
as its accounting function, are abroad. 
Such public companies are referred to 
below as «letterbox companies».

The standards applying to the group 
audit (SAS/ ISA 220, 230 and 600) 
also apply to the audit of letterbox 
companies. The responsibility of the 
auditor-in-charge for the audit of the 
consolidated fi nancial statements of 
letterbox companies, in terms of di-
rection, supervision and performance, 
cannot be delegated. Firm-internal 
guidance on the audit of letterbox 
companies may not evade or soften 
these requirements5.

In the past the FAOA found that in 
some cases fi rm-internal requirements 
on the audit of letterbox companies 
were insuffi cient to comply with the 
above-mentioned standards. Due to 
the special constellations seen in the 
audit of letterbox companies – each 
audit displays differing circumstances 
and characteristics – the FAOA also 
found defi ciencies during its fi le re-
views of letterbox company audits in 
prior years. This prompted the FAOA 
to perform a thematic review in the 
reporting year.

At the three largest audit fi rms the 
FAOA selected a total of fi ve letter-
box company audits and assessed the 
audit methodology and compliance 
with internal and external require-
ments for a group audit. The follow-
ing was found:

− At one fi rm the planning of let-
terbox company audits is subject 
to mandatory consultation, which 
the FAOA welcomes. Such a policy 
is conducive to the audit of letter-
box companies being uniform and 
compliant with applicable require-
ments. 

− The «integrated audit team» ap-
proach has also proved sensible. In 
such cases the group engagement 
team comprises of staff from the 
network fi rms of various countries 
and the group auditor-in-charge 
does not delegate his or her re-
sponsibilities. Due to the de-cen-
tralised team structure the time re-
quired by the auditor-in-charge for 
supervision and coordination is in 
some cases, however, considerable.

− The audit methodology of two 
audit fi rms is compliant with the 
auditing standards. At one fi rm, 
by contrast, the FAOA criticises un-
clear concepts, responsibilities and 
task allocations within the meth-
odology. These ambiguities lead to 
the risk that the group auditor is in-
suffi ciently involved in the work of 
the component auditor and does 
not assume his or her specifi ed re-
sponsibilities to the necessary ex-
tent. Additionally in this case, the 
methodology provides for the del-
egation of non-transferable group 
auditor responsibilities (e.g. risk 
assessment, materiality determina-
tion, fraud inquiries, consolidation 
audit).

− Although the auditor-in-charge is 
responsible for compliance with 
independence requirements, he or 
she is not always responsible for 
approving additional services. This 
would be necessary, however, to 
be able to exercise group-wide re-
sponsibility for independence con-
sistently.

− In some cases working papers rel-
evant to the group audit are not 
kept in Switzerland. The audit doc-
umentation is thus incomplete and 
Swiss law documentation require-
ments are not met.

Regardless of methodologies, the dif-
fi culties associated with the audit of 
letterbox companies ultimately lie in 
the realisation and perception of the 
specifi ed tasks and responsibilities 

of the group auditor and the group 
auditor’s timely involvement. The rea-
sons behind the presence of each of 
these companies in Switzerland and 
consequently also their structures 
and the division of responsibilities 
between group and component au-
ditors vary greatly. It is thus essential 
that these differing requirements are 
taken account of and that delegation 
of responsibility for the work of the 
group auditor is not possible under 
any circumstances. 

Shared Service Centres

At the state-regulated audit fi rms that 
outsource audit work to a foreign 
shared service centre (SSC) the FAOA 
analysed the applicable processes, 
controls and type of work outsourced 
in the reporting year. The proportion 
of outsourced audit hours to total 
audit hours is still currently low. The 
proportion of work outsourced to for-
eign SSC is below fi ve percent of total 
audit hours at all audit fi rms. It is ex-
pected, however, that this proportion 
will increase in the next years.

A foreign SSC is generally an organ-
isation controlled by the relevant au-
dit network that is not licensed as an 
audit fi rm in the respective country 
of domicile. An SSC is not to be con-
fused with a local audit fi rm that pre-
pares a report covering its audit work 
and is subject to local audit oversight. 
The engaged SSC staff are normally 
seen as being part of the Swiss audit 
team. The Swiss fi rm therefore retains 
full responsibility for the outsourced 
work, for compliance with Swiss law 
and for the quality assurance system.

In its analysis the FAOA observed that 
the following work had been out-
sourced to foreign SSC:

− Coordination of external confi rma-
tion collection (banks, debtors etc.)
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− Coordination work relating to 
group audit instructions

− Calculations and reconciliations

− Consistency checks

− Basic sample testing in the assets 
and revenue areas

− Initial completion of disclosure 
checklists

− Preparation and archiving of elec-
tronic working papers

The FAOA concludes that the quality 
of audit work outsourced to foreign 
SSC is as good or slightly better than 
comparable audit work that has not 
been outsourced to date. On the one 
hand, this is because the SSC have spe-
cialised in routine work. On the other, 
additional reviews have been incorpo-
rated within the processes. The FAOA 
sees the current fi rm-level quality as-
surance processes as adequate overall. 
However, SSC compliance with the 
manifold applicable Swiss laws must 
be assured through appropriate meas-
ures and controls, the effectiveness of 
which must also be assured on a con-
tinuing basis. This responsibility cannot 
be delegated to other network fi rms.

If SSC are used for more complex 
audit work in the future, however, 
caution is needed. It is to be borne 
in mind that SSC staff generally do 
not have an adequate understand-
ing of the audit client’s business and 
also normally have no client contact. 
Furthermore the use of SSC implies 
specifi c risks. These can, for example, 
be connected with the cultural char-
acteristics of the SSC locations. In ad-
dition, an SSC often has a higher staff 
fl uctuation, which can have a nega-
tive impact on quality. The FAOA will 
therefore monitor the development 
of SSC further and, where necessary, 
ensure that only suitable work, re-
quiring no professional judgement, is 
outsourced to SSC.

Regarding the use of the work of SSC 
the FAOA will, besides the above, also 
pay appropriate attention to commu-
nication with the audit committee. 
The FAOA believes that the audit 
committees of public companies 
should be informed about the nature 
and extent of signifi cant outsourced 
work. Without this information the 
audit committee does not have the 
opportunity to discharge its responsi-
bility and critically question the nature 
and extent of work outsourced to an 
SSC if need be.

In order for the FAOA to be able to 
monitor the development of SSC fur-
ther, an audit quality measure relating 
to the use of foreign SSC was collect-
ed for the fi rst time in the year just 
ended. In the future this will allow 
the FAOA to check the quality of out-
sourced work if certain thresholds are 
exceeded. Since the SSC are generally 
not subject to external quality assur-
ance in their home country, it is also 
necessary to evaluate, together with 
other oversight authorities, the need 
for local external quality assurance 
measures.

Proceedings and preliminary 
fact-fi nding

In addition to routine inspections, 
the FAOA also conducts event-driven 
preliminary fact-fi nding and proceed-
ings at state-regulated audit fi rms. 
In doing so the FAOA considers, in 
particular, plausible information from 
third parties. In the reporting year the 
FAOA received one notifi cation from 
third parties relating to the work of a 
state-regulated audit fi rm. This notifi -
cation is currently being investigated 
by the FAOA to ascertain whether 
proceedings should be started. The 
notifi cations referred to in the «Key 
activities 2014» section all relate to 
audit fi rms, respectively individuals, 
that are not state-regulated.

Since inspection activities began in 
2008, 23 proceedings have been 

conducted as part of the FAOA’s over-
sight of state-regulated audit fi rms:

− Seven proceedings were against 
audit fi rms. In four of these cas-
es the FAOA identifi ed breaches 
of independence requirements. In 
two cases measures agreed with 
the FAOA after its fi rst inspection 
were not implemented or not im-
plemented on a timely basis. In one 
case the statutory reporting obliga-
tion was not met.

− 16 proceedings were against indi-
viduals with an FAOA licence. Ten 
of these cases involved breaches 
of independence requirements. In 
six cases the FAOA sanctioned the 
auditor-in-charge for not exercising 
proper duty of care.
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Figure 5
Comparison of selected audit quality measures relating to the audit function of the fi ve 
largest state-regulated audit fi rms

Audit quality measure 2011 2012 2013 2014

from to from to from to from to

Average annual revenue per audit partner 
(CHF mio.)

1.4 4 1.4 4.1 1.6 4.3 1.7 4.2

Ratio of non-audit fees to audit fees 0.1 0.4 0.1 0.4 0.1 0.4 0.1 0.4

Number of audit staff per audit partner 8.4 11.5 7.6 11.9 6.8 13.5 7.1 14

Staff turnover in % 16 23 16 28 12 26 13 26

Average number of EQCR hours per 
public company audit

9 20 4 22 9 23 7 26

Average number of auditor-in-charge hours per 
public company audit 

n.a. n.a. n.a. n.a. n.a. n.a. 79 161

Number of foreign SSC hours as a % of 
overall hours 

n.a. n.a. n.a. n.a. n.a. n.a. 0 5

Number of consultations per public company audit n.a. n.a. n.a. n.a. n.a. n.a. 0 0.4

Audit Quality Measures

Over the last six years the FAOA has 
collected audit quality measures from 
the fi ve largest audit fi rms on specifi c 
audit-related areas of the quality as-
surance system. These allow for trend 
analyses and the timely identifi cation 
of factors that may impact audit qual-
ity. In addition, the measures are used 
for risk assessment when planning 
inspections.

The audit quality measures were fur-
ther developed in the reporting year 
to improve their informative value 
and comparability. The earlier meas-
ures were hereby amended. Certain 

measures were no longer used due to 
lack of informative value. The FAOA 
further integrated new measures re-
lating to the involvement of the au-
ditor-in-charge, the work of foreign 
SSC and the number of internal con-
sultations performed. In addition, for 
several measures a distinction was 
drawn between SMI and other public 
companies. 
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− The lowest average annual revenue 
per partner increased slightly. Rev-
enue per partner increased slightly 
at three audit firms and decreased 
slightly at two firms. Revenue per 
partner depends on the size, re-
spectively fees, of the audited com-
panies and on the staff to partner 
ratio. The audit firm with the high-
est revenue per partner also has the 
highest number of staff per partner. 

− The FAOA regards the ratio of ad-
ditional fees to audit fees at public 
company audit clients to be a risk 
indicator with respect to independ-
ence. This ratio has changed only 
marginally compared to the prior 
year. The ratio is around 0.1 or 0.2 
at four firms and at one firm it is 
higher at 0.4. Furthermore, the ra-
tio at SMI companies is generally 
lower than at other public compa-
nies. 

− Although the range of staff turno-
ver changed only slightly compared 
to the prior year, the highest levels 
of staff turnover rotate amongst 
four audit firms. The lowest staff 
turnover has been shown by the 
same audit firm since the key audit 
measures were first collected.

− There is a significant difference 
between audit firms in the av-
erage number of EQCR and au-
ditor-in-charge hours per public 
company. The larger the audit 
client engagements the higher 
the proportion of EQCR and au-
ditor-in-charge hours. Further, the 
average number of EQCR and audi-
tor-in-charge hours incurred at SMI 
companies exceed those incurred at 
other companies by several times. 
Although the allocation of hours, 
respectively personal resources, 
generally accords with the risks, the 
number of EQCR hours incurred is 
still too low in some cases. This is 
particularly the case in the audit of 
smaller public companies.

− The hours of a foreign SSC as a per-
centage of the total hours of audit 
engagements using that SSC varies 
greatly. Two of the five audit firms 
currently deploy foreign SSC. The 
involvement of domestic SSC is not 
taken account of in this measure. 

− The proportion of formal consul-
tations to audited public compa-
nies is similar at three firms. At 
these firms formal consultations 
are made around 2.6 times per 10 
public companies. With 3.6 consul-
tations the proportion at the fourth 
firm is significantly larger. There 
were no formal consultations at the 
fifth firm. The FAOA believes that 
consultation on complex questions 
increases audit quality.

Cooperation with other Swiss 
authorities and stock exchanges

To avoid duplication the FAOA co-
ordinates its oversight activities with 
oversight authorities established un-
der special law and with the stock 
exchange.

In the reporting year two joint inspec-
tions were performed with FINMA. 
Having regard to the respective over-
sight activities of the FAOA and FIN-
MA and the assumption of particular 
FINMA oversight responsibilities by 
the FAOA regular interaction took 
place. 

The SIX Exchange Regulation (SER) is 
responsible for ensuring that compa-
nies listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange 
comply with accounting standards. 
The FAOA and SER coordinate their 
activities to avoid duplication. The 
FAOA assesses the audit activities of 
audit firms. SER, on the other hand, 
assesses issuers’ compliance with 
their responsibilities under the listing 
regulations. The focus of the FAOA is 
upon auditor compliance with legal 
and professional requirements, and 
not upon compliance with account-
ing standards. In the reporting year 

no notifications were received from 
SER that were of relevance to the 
FAOA. Should the FAOA find materi-
al breaches of accounting standards 
during its inspections it notifies the 
responsible exchange. In the report-
ing year there were no such notifica-
tions. 

The FAOA also has periodic contact 
with the Supervisory Commission for 
Occupational Pension Schemes. The 
interaction is focussed on the discus-
sion of regulatory developments and 
audit related questions in the pension 
fund area. In addition, there is coordi-
nation relating to FAOA proceedings 
against auditors-in-charge that arise 
from the unsatisfactory audit of pen-
sion funds. 

Standard-setting

The continued development of in-
ternational and national auditing 
standards is an important element 
in improving audit quality. The FAOA 
works towards this in international 
working groups. This collaboration 
makes it possible for regulators to 
interact periodically and to prepare 
joint responses to drafts of new or 
revised standards.

FAOA Circulars

For the first time, in accordance 
with the new requirements of Circu-
lar 1/2010 and by a due date of 30 
June, audit engagements were to 
be reported to the FAOA if the ratio 
between non-audit and audit fees 
exceeded 1:1 in a business year. For 
each reportable engagement disclo-
sure was to be made of the additional 
services provided, together with the 
safeguards put in place to counter 
possible breaches of independence. 
The FAOA had received 15 notifica-
tions by 30 June and assessed these 
critically. 
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Since 1 January 2014 there has been 
a requirement to report all new pub-
lic interest entity audit engagements 
to the FAOA. The report is due upon 
election by the responsible body and 
includes the likely audit fee. In all cas-
es reporting must be timely. Where 
there has been an early termination 
or the waiver of audit engagement 
continuance reasons are to be pro-
vided. In the past the FAOA found 
that state-regulated audit firms did 
not always provide clear and compre-
hensive reasons for the termination of 
the client relationship. However, this 
is relevant in assessing possible audit 
quality implications and the accept-
ance process at the new audit firm.  

Swiss Auditing Standards

The new Swiss Auditing Standards 
(SAS 2013 edition) were to be used 
for the first time with respect to the 
audit of statutory and consolidated 
financial statements that ended on 
or after 15 December 2013. Likewise, 
all state-regulated audit firms were to 
implement SQCS 1 by 15 December 
2013. Generally, SQCS 1 was ap-
propriately transferred to the exist-
ing quality assurance system at the 
state-regulated audit firms.

The ISA amendments made in 2013 
and 2014 have not yet been adopt-
ed in the SAS (ISA 315, 610). Given 
current standard setting projects, the 
future timely transfer of ISA to SAS 
should be strived for. Timely transfer 
is particularly important with respect 
to the new audit reporting standards 
(ISA 700 f.) as these will lead to signif-
icant reporting improvements in the 
view of the FAOA.

International Standards

As a result of collaboration with the 
international working groups of the 
EAIG and IFIAR the FAOA submitted 
comment letters on various IAASB 
proposals: 

−	In April and May 2014 comment 
letters were submitted on the strat-
egy and workplan of the IAASB for 
the period 2015 to 2019. The focus 
placed by the IAASB on subjects 
such as the professional scepticism 
of the auditor, group audit and the 
audit of fair values is welcome. 
However, recommendations were 
made by the EAIG and IFIAR to re-
vise the requirements on materiality 
and the audit of letterbox compa-
nies. 

−	In August 2014 IFIAR submitted a 
comment letter on the draft of ISA 
720, concerning requirements on 
the audit of other information. The 
FAOA agrees with the aim of the 
draft to broaden and more clearly 
define the requirements and to in-
crease the responsibility of the au-
ditor towards the accuracy of other 
information. However, ambiguities 
in the definitions were criticised.

−	In October 2014 two further com-
ment letters were submitted on 
proposed revisions relating to the 
audit of notes disclosures. The 
EAIG and IFIAR question whether 
the proposed audit requirements 
are sufficient to achieve an effec-
tive audit approach towards these 
disclosures. It was further noted 
that closer cooperation between 
the auditing and accounting stand-
ard setters was needed to achieve 
an overall increase in the quality of 
notes information. 

The FAOA commented last year on 
drafts of revised audit reporting 
standards. In September 2014 the 
IAASB adopted the relevant ISAs, 
which were published in January 
2015. The standards are mandatory 
for the audit of financial statements 
covering periods that end on or af-
ter 15 December 2016 but earlier 
application is permitted. The FAOA 
welcomes the proposed changes and 
a prompt transfer of the new interna-
tional standards to SAS.

The «Key Audit Matters» that are to 
form part of public company audit 
reporting are of outstanding impor-
tance. In a separate section the audi-
tor will provide information on issues 
that, in his or her opinion, were of 
most significance to the audit of the 
financial statements. These would 
particularly include issues involving 
significant risk and significant profes-
sional judgement by the auditor. In 
addition to this, the audit opinion is 
henceforth to be presented in the first 
paragraph of the report and a going 
concern assessment in a separate par-
agraph. There will also be a separate 
paragraph dealing with the audit of 
other information presented with the 
financial statements. Auditor materi-
ality is not, however, planned to be 
disclosed to the general meeting of 
shareholders.

The following comment letters were 
submitted on the proposals of the 
IESBA for revising the Code of Ethics:

−	A comment letter on the strategy 
and workplan of the IESBA was is-
sued jointly with the EAIG in Febru-
ary 2014. This generally supports the 
proposed approach and focus areas.

−	A comment letter on the planned 
changes regarding non-audit ser-
vices to audit clients was issued 
jointly with the EAIG in October 
2014. Amongst other things, the 
changes concern the restrictions on 
providing additional services to au-
dit clients. These changes are sup-
ported. 

−	In November 2014 the FAOA issued 
a comment letter on the long-term 
provision of services to an audit cli-
ent. The establishment of particular 
principles is welcome. On the other 
hand, the FAOA is against an ex-
tension of the cooling-off period to 
five years. The cooling-off periods 
in force in Switzerland, being three 
years for the auditor-in-charge and 
two years for the responsible audi-
tor, are deemed adequate.
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Points of focus for 2015 
inspections

As part of its regular 2015 inspections 
the FAOA will focus on the following 
points and assess them in detail:

Financial audit:

− Audit of the compensation report 
by the statutory auditor (ordinance 
of 20 November 2013 against exor-
bitant compensation at public com-
panies)

− Determination of the type of work 
(scoping) to be performed on the fi -
nancial information of components 
(SAS/ ISA 600.26-29)

− Use of the work of internal auditors 
(SAS/ ISA 610)

Regulatory audit:

− Use of the work of internal auditors 
and involvement of an auditor’s ex-
pert (e.g. actuary)

− Audit of compliance with investment 
regulations at insurance companies 
and collective investment schemes

− Audit of compliance with AMLA 
regulations

Further points of focus relating to the 
application of auditing or accounting 
standards will result from an individual 
analysis of the specifi c circumstances. 

Thomas Rufer, Chairman of the Board of Directors, FAOA Seminar 2014 in Lausanne
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Introduction

In 2014 a large number of specifi c 
administrative assistance cases were 
again dealt with. Due to the listing 
of Swiss entities in the US and the 
presence of US groups in Switzerland, 
cooperation with the US remains the 
most intensive. At the same time, the 
number of cross-border matters relat-
ing to EU member states is still sig-
nifi cant6. As the principle of «home 
oversight» has been agreed with the 
EU and EEA audit oversight authori-
ties, those authorities generally do 
not carry out oversight activities in 
Switzerland. Cooperation here focus-
es on the exchange of oversight-rele-
vant information.

Relations with the European 
Union
Memorandums of Understanding

Since the so-called «adequacy de-
cision» of 5 February 2010 and EU 
recognition of the equivalence of 
the Swiss audit oversight system on 
19 January 2011, the audit oversight 
authorities of EU member states have 
been able to place reliance on the 
oversight activities of the FAOA. The 
scope and conditions of such coop-
eration must be governed, however, 
by a cooperation agreement between 
the FAOA and the audit oversight au-
thority of the respective EU member 
state. The FAOA has been negotiating 
continuously with various EU and EEA 
audit oversight authorities since the 
equivalence decision.

In 2014 negotiations were successful-
ly completed with two EU oversight 
authorities. The texts of both Mem-
orandums of Understanding (MoU) 
were published on the FAOA home-
page. 

On 5 March 2014 the FAOA conclud-
ed an MoU with the Finnish Auditing 
Board of the Central Chamber of 
Commerce. With this the oversight 
activities of both authorities are mu-

tually recognised. Cross-border in-
spections, such as those required by 
the PCAOB, are mutually waived.

The MoU agreed with the UK Finan-
cial Reporting Council on 18 March 
2014 represents the seventh FAOA 
cooperation agreement with a regu-
lator from the EU/EEA. Cooperation 
with the UK is of greater importance 
due to the close economic ties be-
tween the UK and Switzerland. The 
MoU with the UK is comparable with 
the agreements already concluded 
with other EU member states. The 
«principle of home oversight» again 
gives considerable relief to Swiss au-
dit fi rms here. However, the possibility 
of performing inspection activities in 
the other country is also provided for 
in exceptional cases.

Registration of Swiss audit fi rms

State-regulated audit fi rms domiciled 
in Switzerland can register with for-
eign audit oversight authorities. An 
overview of the state-regulated audit 
fi rms registered in the EU is given in 
the appendices. Cross-border regis-
trations occasionally give rise to legal 
questions to be resolved together 
with the FAOA.

Audit market reform  

On 3 April 2014 the EU adopted the 
so-called EU Audit Reform. The new 
regulations come directly into force 
in mid-2016 (ordinance), respectively 
must be implemented within national 
law by the EU member states (direc-
tives). The Reform could impact Swit-
zerland at various levels:

− First, the Reform package will lead 
to new modalities for administra-
tive assistance provided by the au-
dit oversight bodies of EU member 
states. It will need to be checked 
whether cooperation agreements 
concluded under the old law re-
main valid under the new law. 

− Secondly, the extent to which Swiss 
audit fi rms are directly or indirectly 
affected by the new EU require-
ments – particularly as regards 
independence – is open to discus-
sion. The audit of entities domiciled 
in the EU or Switzerland that qual-
ify as a public interest entity under 
EU law or the audit of their Swiss 
subsidiaries come to mind. A fur-
ther challenge is that individual EU 
member states have considerable 
fl exibility and can deviate from or 
defi ne a requirement.

The FAOA will follow the further de-
velopments closely and will approach 
relevant partners should negative de-
velopments for Switzerland be seen. 
The FAOA believes provisions of the 
EU Audit Reform to strengthen the 
position and responsibilities of audit 
committees and broaden the audit re-
port to shareholders to be meaningful.

However, the FAOA currently sees 
no urgent need for action in Switzer-
land as regards the EU restrictions on 
non-audit fees. It should be highlight-
ed that the FAOA introduced a more 
stringent reporting requirement as 
per 1 January 2014. Accordingly, au-
dit engagements must be reported to 
the FAOA if the ratio of non-audit to 
audit fees disclosed in the annual re-
port of the respective audited public 
company exceeds 1:1 in a fi nancial 
year (Circular 1/2010). Based on this 
reporting the FAOA can check compli-
ance with independence requirements 
in an effective and risk-based way.

The FAOA views the EU rotation re-
quirements for auditors of public 
companies critically. On the one hand, 
the advantages of rotation, such as 
those relating to a creeping loss of 
objectivity, may be eliminated by the 
disadvantages associated with the 
acquisition of a mandate by a new 
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6 At the end of 2014 there were 22 (2013: 
19) requests for administrative assistance 
pending at the FAOA. Of these 10 were 
from member states of the EU and EEA, 
11 from the USA and one from another 
country.
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7 http://pcaobus.org / Inspections /Reports/
Pages/default.aspx

auditor (additional costs etc.). On the 
other, rigid rotation rules should not 
replace the duty of the board of direc-
tors, respectively audit committee, to 
review the audit mandate periodically 
based on set criteria and, if need be, 
recommend a change in auditor to 
the general meeting of shareholders.

Cooperation with the USA
Statement of Protocol 

On 4 April 2011 the FAOA and FINMA 
agreed a Statement of Protocol (SoP; 
equivalent to an MoU) with the PCA-
OB for cooperation in the oversight 
of audit fi rms. The SoP allows for the 
transfer of confi dential information 
between the respective parties and 
the performance of joint inspections. 
As part of the fi rst inspection cycle 
from 2011 to 2013 each of the fi ve 
largest Swiss audit fi rms were joint-
ly inspected once by the FAOA and 
PCAOB. The PCAOB had fi nalised 
four of the related inspection reports 
by the end of 2014:

− Report of 25 March 2014 on the in-
spection of PricewaterhouseCoop-
ers AG in 2011 

− Report of 26 June 2014 on the 
inspection of Deloitte AG in June 
2012 

− Report of 24 November 2014 on 
the inspection of Ernst & Young AG 
in 2011 

− Report of 24 November 2014 on 
the inspection of BDO Visura Inter-
national AG in 2012 

The inspection reports of the PCAOB 
comprise of four parts: Part I («Inspec-
tion procedures and certain observa-
tions»), Part II («Detailed discussion 
of inspection results»), Part III («Post 
inspection procedures») und Part IV 
(«Response of the fi rm to draft in-
spection report»). Parts I and IV are 
published on the homepage of the 
PCAOB once the report is fi nalised7. 
After this the audit fi rm has a dead-

line of twelve months to propose spe-
cifi c remedial measures to address the 
identifi ed defi ciencies. If insuffi cient 
measures are available within this pe-
riod Part II is also published.

By contrast, the FAOA does not pub-
lish inspection reports but discloses 
the results of its work in an aggregat-
ed and anonymous form within the 
respective annual Activity Report.

Extension of SoP and reliance 

The SoP was limited to three years 
and therefore expired on 4 April 
2014. Although joint inspections are 
not unproblematic from a sovereignty 
perspective, the close economic links 
between the Swiss and US economies 
have to be taken into account. The 
relationship between the two au-
thorities has also deepened and de-
veloped positively over the past three 
years. Consultation with the sector 
concerned also indicated that a gen-
eral continuation of existing coopera-
tion would be largely benefi cial. On 4 
April 2014 the SoP was therefore ex-
tended by way of an addendum. The 
SoP is now open-ended in principle 
but can be terminated at any time by 
both parties. The text of the SoP was 
published on the FAOA homepage.

FINMA is now not a party to the SoP. 
FINMA was originally included be-
cause it still had oversight responsibil-
ity for the audit fi rms’ fi nancial audit 
of fi nancial institutions (also US listed) 
in 2011. Following the assumption 
of these and other FINMA responsi-
bilities, as from 1 January 2015 the 
FAOA is solely responsible for cooper-
ation with the PCAOB. There is there-
fore no need for FINMA to be further 
directly involved. 

Based on the extended SoP, the PCA-
OB inspected two Swiss audit fi rms 
for the second time. The relationship 
between the FAOA and the PCAOB 
has continued to develop positively in 
the meantime.

Relations with other countries

On 29 September 2014 the FAOA 
also concluded an MoU on coopera-
tion in the audit oversight area with 
the Canadian Public Accountability 
Board. While the MoU is only the sec-
ond agreement with a regulator out-
side Europe, its content is comparable 
to the agreements with the EU over-
sight authorities. In particular, there 
are no cross-border inspections. The 
MoU can be downloaded from the 
FAOA homepage.

Multilateral Organisations
IFIAR

IFIAR was founded in 2006 and cur-
rently has around 50 members. With-
in the framework of their oversight 
activities over audit fi rms of listed en-
tities these cover more than 80% of 
global market capitalisation.

The President and Vice-President are 
from the US PCAOB and the Dutch 
Authority for the Financial Markets 
(AFM) respectively. The Chief Execu-
tive Offi cer of the FAOA acts as Treas-
urer. In 2014 IFIAR held an Inspection 
Workshop in Kuala Lumpur (March), 
a plenary meeting in Washington 
(April) and an interim meeting in To-
ronto (October).

Amongst each other, but also at 
joint events with representatives of 
the so-called «Big 6» of the audit 
industry and leading investors and 
academics, the members discussed 
the benefi ts of the audit to investors 
and audit committees, the structure 
and business model of the Big 6, the 
risk-based oversight model and forth-
coming self-regulatory projects within 
the profession. 
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IFIAR remains an important platform 
for the FAOA, enabling contact with 
other oversight authorities and the 
discussion of new oversight strategies 
and their implementation in an inter-
national context. In 2014 the FAOA 
was involved in IFIAR debates at var-
ious levels:

− Enforcement Working Group 
(EWG): The aim of this working 
group is to exchange experiences 
gained in investigating and sanc-
tioning breaches of standards by 
auditors and audit firms. In 2014 a 
questionnaire was developed and 
evaluated to gain an overview of 
the various enforcement instru-
ments available in the legal jurisdic-
tions of the IFIAR members. The re-
sults are expected to be published 
in 2015. 

− International Cooperation Working 
Group (ICWG): As a member of this 
working group the FAOA is contrib-
uting particularly to the develop-
ment of a Multi-lateral Memoran-
dum of Understanding (MMoU). 
The aim of this long-term project 
is to improve cooperation between 
audit oversight authorities within 
IFIAR and to improve the exchange 
of oversight-relevant information 
between audit oversight authori-
ties.

− Inspection Workshop Working 
Group (IWWG): Animated ex-
changes take place between in-
spectors from the oversight au-
thorities represented at the annual 
multi-day Inspection Workshops. 
Current audit technical questions 
are discussed, which helps to build 
and refine the inspection activities 
of the FAOA. The FAOA participat-
ed in this year’s Inspection Work-
shop and assisted with several of its 
own contributions. The FAOA has 
been a member of the IWWG since 
the summer of 2014 and helps to 
organise the workshops.

− Standards Coordination Working 
Group (SCWG): This working group 
monitors the standard-setting of 
the international profession and, 
within its joint comment letters to 
the IAASB, puts forward the appli-
cation and compliance experiences 
oversight authorities have had with 
the existing standards. In 2014 the 
working group additionally met 
with IAASB and IESBA representa-
tives to exchange ideas. 

EAIG

Since 2011 the FAOA has taken part 
in the meetings of the EAIG, a body of 
oversight authorities from EU mem-
ber states. As part of its work, the 
EAIG analyses the anonymised find-
ings from the inspections of mem-
ber audit oversight authorities and 
performs root cause analyses of the 
identified deficiencies. Amongst oth-
er things, the results form the basis 
for discussions with representatives of 
the IAASB and IESBA and represent-
atives from the audit firm networks. 
In addition, current trends relating to 
the audit and the organisation of au-
dit firms are discussed. 

In 2014 an inspection programme for 
the assessment of a quality assurance 
system under ISQC 1 was developed 
together with other regulators. This 
so-called Common Audit Inspection 
Methodology (CAIM) will unify the in-
spection approach of the participating 
oversight authorities, and thus also 
make it easier to compare findings. 
Such a coordinated approach is par-
ticularly important to the oversight of 
audit firm networks. Jointly with other 
EAIG members the FAOA has also sub-
mitted written comments on regulato-
ry proposals of the IAASB and IESBA. 

As Switzerland is not a member of 
the EU the FAOA only has an ob-
server status at the EAIG. The future 
participation of the FAOA in the EAIG 
depends on the future institutional 
development of the EAIG, which is 
heavily influenced by the new EU law. 

Colleges of Supervisors

The integration of various audit firm 
network members at the Europe-
an-level already lead to the formation 
of «Colleges of Supervisors» from 
the regulatory side several years ago. 
Participating oversight authorities 
coordinate individual oversight activ-
ities within these colleges. Common 
inspection procedures relating to spe-
cific elements of the quality assurance 
system were performed for the first 
time in 2013 at one audit network. In 
2014 the results of these inspection 
procedures were analysed and as-
sessed as to the possible implications 
for quality assurance at the respective 
territory firms. 

The structure of the audit firm net-
work concerned changed in 2014. 
This will have an effect on the work 
of the College and on the nature of 
cooperation between the oversight 
authorities. Furthermore, the nature 
and extent of the FAOA’s further par-
ticipation in the Colleges is also de-
pendent upon the implementation of 
the new EU law. 

Extra-territorial scope of the AOA

To protect investors in the Swiss cap-
ital market, and in line with compa-
rable foreign regulations, the AOA 
also displays certain extra-territorial 
properties. Foreign audit firms are 
subject to FAOA oversight if they au-
dit foreign companies that draw on 
the Swiss capital market. Essentially, 
this does not apply if the foreign audit 
firm is already subject to equivalent 
oversight (Art. 8, para. 2 AOA). How-
ever, this system is not yet in force as 
discussions over cooperation and mu-
tual recognition must first take place 
with the most significant foreign part-
ner authorities. 

Based on past experience it is ap-
parent, however, that the oversight 
systems of the affected countries are 
very heterogeneous in design and 
that Switzerland is unlikely to be able 
to recognise the oversight authorities 
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of various countries. It is therefore to 
be assumed that more foreign audit 
fi rms will fall under the direct over-
sight of the FAOA than was originally 
anticipated by the legislator. To pre-
vent excessive Swiss stock exchange 
listing requirements from weakening 
the competitiveness of the Swiss cap-
ital market, a modest de-regulation 
of the extra-territorial scope ((Art. 
8 AOA) was proposed during the 
2012/13 consultation on the mod-
ernisation of the commercial register, 
particularly as regards signifi cant sub-
sidiaries and issuers of unlisted bonds. 
The consultation noted, in particular, 
that the issuers of equity instruments 
(in the fi rst instance shares) and bonds 
should be treated differently. 

On 23 October 2013 the Federal 
Council instructed the Federal Jus-
tice and Police Department (FJPD) to 
prepare a submission on the mod-
ernisation of the commercial register 
ordinance. With a view to revising the 
extra-territorial scope of the AOA, 
the FJPD was also mandated to check 
whether oversight of the auditors of 
foreign issuers could be effected in a 
differentiated way (shares and bonds) 
and whether the scope section which 
is not subject to revision could be 
enacted early. The FAOA believes it 
would be sensible to enact the part 
of Article 8 AOA applicable to share 
issuers early. In so doing, investor 
protection could be strengthened 
promptly and in a targeted way and 
initial implementation experiences 
could be gathered. 

Due to the cohesiveness of the sub-
ject matter, the FJPD further decided 
to separate the revision of the AOA 
from the modernisation of the com-
mercial register ordinance and to pur-
sue it with a separate proposal.

IMF FSAP assessment

From May to December 2013 Swit-
zerland went through the so-called 
Financial Sector Assessment Pro-

gramme (FSAP) of the IMF. The aim 
of the FSAP is to assess the fi nancial 
centre concerned with respect to fi -
nancial stability and the quality of 
regulation and oversight. The results 
of the FSAP were published in spring 
2014. As audit forms part of fi nancial 
market regulation the fi nal report of 
3 September 20148 also contains crit-
icism of Swiss audit law: 

The IMF believes that independence 
requirements for Swiss listed compa-
nies should be improved in two areas: 

− On the one hand, the lack of a 
legal requirement to establish an 
audit committee within the board 
of directors is criticised. Even if 
self-regulation in this area requires 
an approach based on the principle 
of «comply or explain», there is no 
guarantee that an audit committee 
actually exists. 

− On the other, the complaint is made 
that the resignation, de-selection 
and replacement of the auditor is 
currently not publicised immediately. 

The FAOA does not regard the fi rst 
point of criticism as unjust: The cre-
ation of enforceable legal require-
ments would be welcome given the 
positive infl uence an active audit com-
mittee has on audit quality and to be 
in line with developments in the EU 
and the USA. The current company 
law revision would provide a good 
opportunity to take this point up. The 
FAOA is sceptical on the second point 
as current requirements regarding the 
change of auditor appear adequate 
(commercial register, ad hoc publicity). 

8 http://www.imf.org / external / pubs / ft/
scr /2014/cr14266.pdf
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Introduction

2014 was dominated by the expect-
ed wave of licence renewals. Almost 
2,000 audit fi rm licences issued in 
2009 with a fi ve year term expired 
automatically in calendar year 2014. 
This is equivalent to over 50% of all 
FAOA-licensed audit fi rms. In addi-
tion, 550 new applications for fi rst-
time licences were submitted by audit 
fi rms and individuals. 

Licences

During the reporting year 395 indi-
viduals were licensed for the fi rst time 
by the FAOA. Around 75 individuals 
were deleted from the public regis-
ter due to surrender, death or licence 
withdrawal by the FAOA. Thereby, the 
trend of previous years for a slight 
annual increase in the number of li-
censed individuals also continued in 
calendar year 2014. 

For the fi rst time the number of li-
censed sole proprietorships and audit 
fi rms was lower than in the prior year, 
with a reduction of 161 sole partner-
ships and 181 licensed audit fi rms. 
This is largely due to voluntary sur-
renders received as part of the licence 
renewal process. With 23 fi rms (prior 
year 22) the number of state-regulat-
ed audit fi rms has again risen slightly.
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Licensing

Figure 6
Licensed individuals and audit fi rms as at 31 December 2014 9

Type of licence Auditor Audit 
expert 

Total at 
31.12.2014

Total at 
31.12.2013

Individuals 2,393 6,267 8,660 8,340

Sole proprietorships 298 324 622 783

Audit fi rms 840 1,672 2,512 2,693

State-regulated audit fi rms – 23 23 22

Total licences 3,531 8,286 11,817 11,838

9 All numbers refer to legally binding com-
pleted proceedings. Pending appeals have 
not been included. The determining factor 
is therefore the status of the licensing pro-
cess as per the end of 2014.
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Membership of professional asso-
ciations10

The absolute number of audit fi rms 
that are members of a professional 
association dropped slightly com-
pared to the prior year. This devel-

opment is largely due to the lower 
number of licensed audit fi rms com-
pared to the prior year. In percentage 
terms the proportion of audit fi rms 
belonging to at least one professional 
association has, at 67 percent, slightly 
increased compared to the prior year 

(63 percent). This is because most of 
the audit fi rms who did not renew 
their licences during the licence re-
newal process were not members of 
any professional association. 

The proportion of licensed individuals 
and licensed audit fi rms with pro-
fessional association memberships 
is practically identical in percentage 
terms. Two thirds of licensed individu-
als belong to at least one of the pro-
fessional associations. 

10 All numbers are derived from the self-dec-
larations of the audit fi rms and individuals.

Figure 7
Licensed audit fi rm memberships of professional associations as at 31 December 2014 

Swiss Quality & Peer Review AG

Institute of Internal Auditing Switzerland

veb.ch

Swiss Institute of Certified Accountants

None

TREUHAND | SUISSE

24

48 558
960

1’038

1’117

Institute of Internal Auditing Switzerland

TREUHAND | SUISSE

veb.ch

None

Swiss Institute of Certified Accountants

4’064
2’9171’317

1’219

217

Figure 8 
Licensed individuals’ memberships of professional associations as at 31 December 2014
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Performance of audits

The FAOA has analysed the number 
of licensed audit firms that performed 
ordinary audits during the calendar 

years 2013 and 2014. It is to be borne 
in mind though that audit services 
provided in the calendar year relate to 
the audit of the financial statements 
of the prior year.

Applied internal quality 
assurance standard

The quality assurance standard used 
by the audit firm is recorded in the 
online register of auditors by means 
of self declaration. The FAOA gen-
erally checks quality assurance re-
quirements, based on submitted 
documentation, at the time of initial 

licensing and every five years as part 
of the licence renewal process. The 
licensing of an audit firm therefore 
provides no guarantee that quality as-
surance standards have been applied 
completely and at all times in every-
day work. 

Most commonly used is SQCS 1/SAS 
220, which became mandatory on 15 

December 2013. However, the ma-
jority of licensed audit firms currently 
use Art. 49 para. 2 AOO to exempt 
themselves from implementing an in-
ternal quality assurance standard.

Figure 10
Frequency of ordinary audits

Number of audit firms 2014 2013

1 to 5 ordinary audits 398 456

6 to 10 ordinary audits 101 102

11 or more ordinary audits 87 91

Total number of audit firms performing ordinary audits 586 649

SAS 220 (valid to 15.12.2013)

ISQC1 und ISA 220

Professional association guidelines

SQCS1 und SAS 220

Extempt under Art. 49 para. 2 AOO

23

44
614

746
1’730

Figure 9
Information from audit firms on the system of internal quality assurance applied (status: 31 December 2014)
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The statistics in fi gure 10 show that 
around seven out of ten audit fi rms 
that actually performed ordinary au-
dits in 2014 performed a maximum 

of fi ve ordinary audits. Indirectly, the 
statistics further show that the great 
majority of the 2,019 licensed audit 
fi rms that are registered with the 

FAOA as audit experts perform no or-
dinary audits. 

From fi gure 11 it can be seen that a 
total of 13,302 ordinary audits were 
performed in 2014. 75 percent of the 
ordinary audits were performed by 
state-regulated audit fi rms. 

Internal quality assurance
Introduction

When processing applications for 
licences that require a quality assur-
ance system, the FAOA checks formal 
compliance with quality assurance 
aspects in each case using a question-
naire. The FAOA adopts a risk-based 
approach and performs detailed 
checks on questionnaires from audit 
fi rms that perform ordinary audits 
and therefore require a quality assur-
ance system under SQCS 1. 

The FAOA believes that audit fi rms 
have made signifi cant progress with 
respect to their quality assurance sys-
tems. Overall, a good impression was 
gained from the assessed quality as-
surance.

The review of the submitted ques-
tionnaires nevertheless produced the 
following recurring fi ndings:

Independence

With respect to the requirement for 
periodic staff independence confi r-
mations it was found in some cases 
that the confi rmations were not re-
quested at least once a year, that the 
group of people required to submit 
a confi rmation was too narrow and 
that there was no check on compli-
ance with rotation requirements for 
ordinary audits. Independence re-
quirements address not only audit 
staff but also, to varying degrees, 
all staff from all departments and all 
leadership levels of an audit fi rm.

The FAOA is also of the opinion that 
the organisational separation legally 
required for limited audits with the 
concurrent provision of accounting 
assistance is still unsatisfactorily ef-
fected in some cases. The organisa-
tional separation of accounting assis-
tance and limited audit assumes that 
separate «audit» and «bookkeeping/
trust» departments exist, each hav-
ing its own operational leadership 
and signing authorities, and that it 
is ensured that both departments 
are independent of each other (e.g. 
through appropriate organisational 
regulations).

Figure 9
Information from audit fi rms on the system of internal quality assurance applied (status: 31 December 2014)

Figure 11
Total number of limited (LA) and ordinary (OA) audits performed11 (status: 31 December 2014)

Licence type Number LA Number OA Total

State-regulated audit fi rms 14,888 10,043 24,931

Other licensed audit fi rms 79,593 3,259 82,852

Total audits performed 2014 94‘481 13,302 107,783

Total audits performed 2013 90,089 14,068 104,157

11 All information is derived from the self-dec-
larations by the audit fi rms. It should also 
be noted that currently 96 percent (prior 
year: 87 percent) of audit fi rms have en-
tered a relevant value. However, the FAOA 
assumes that the majority of the remaining 
audit fi rms are largely inactive and do not 
provide audit services.



32

Training

As a rule the necessary attention 
is paid to training. In some cases, 
however, it was pointed out to audit 
fi rms that there was no independent 
internal monitoring of training re-
quirements. Professional associations 
perform only sample checks on their 
members, which is no substitute for 
the responsibility of the fi rm. 

Some audit fi rms that are not mem-
bers of professional associations have 
no training rules of their own. In this 
regard it is to be remembered that 
an audit fi rm is required to ensure, as 
part of its quality assurance system, 
that employees have the necessary 
technical competence to discharge 
their statutory duties with due care. 
The Swiss Institute of Certifi ed Ac-
countants and Treuhand | Suisse have 
defi ned the nature and extent of 
training for their members. The FAOA 
regards the requirements of both 

associations as equivalent. Where an 
audit fi rm takes suitable measures to 
ensure that the requirements of ei-
ther the Swiss Institute of Certifi ed 
Accountants or Treuhand | Suisse are 
implemented, the FAOA regards train-
ing requirements as having been met. 
This also applies to audit fi rms that are 
not members of the two associations 
(see also FAOA FAQ of 5 March 2012 – 
amended 5 November 2013).

Internal monitoring

Audit fi rms that perform ordinary au-
dits must establish internal monitoring 
procedures that are designed to pro-
vide the audit fi rm with suffi cient as-
surance that the regulations and meas-
ures of the quality assurance system 
are relevant, adequate and function 
properly (SQCS 1.48 f.). In isolated cas-
es the FAOA has found that the inter-
nal monitoring performed by the audit 
fi rm to date only covered engagement 

controls (fi le review). However, internal 
monitoring should also cover fi rm pro-
cesses, and accordingly the general or-
ganisation of the practice (fi rm review). 
Additionally, the internal rules of the 
fi rm with respect to internal monitoring 
are inadequate in some cases. In a few 
cases, for example, there are no clear 
guidelines or requirements regarding 
engagement selection, the inspection 
cycle or reviewers. Finally, effective in-
ternal monitoring should ensure that 
not only formal aspects are covered but 
also substantive ones.

Documentation

In only a few cases the FAOA found 
that the quality assurance system was 
not, or not substantially, document-
ed. A licence can only be granted or 
renewed if legal and professional re-
quirements as to the documentation 
and transparency of the quality assur-
ance system are met.

Licensing | FAOA 2014

Olivier Devaud, FAOA, FAOA Seminar 2014 in Lausanne
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Licence renewal
Introduction

Managing the large number of li-
cence renewal applications was a ma-
jor challenge in 2014. More than half 
of all FAOA-licensed audit fi rms were 
due to renew their fi ve year-term li-
cences. 

Statistics

In the reporting year 1,982 audit fi rm 
licences, originally granted in 2009, 
expired at the end of their fi ve year 

term. The FAOA had already notifi ed 
the affected audit fi rms of the im-
pending licence renewal during the 
prior year. Around six months prior 
to the expiry of the existing licence 
the individual audit fi rms were con-
tacted again and asked to submit 
the documentation required for li-
cence renewal to the FAOA within 
the set deadline. Around 76% of the 
contacted audit fi rms provided the 
documentation required for licence 
renewal by the set deadline or pro-
vided notifi cation that they would 
waive their renewal. 18 percent of 
audit fi rms responded to the FAOA’s 

request for the submission of re-
quired documentation as a result of a 
written reminder. Around six percent 
of audit fi rms did not submit docu-
mentation to the FAOA even after 
the written reminder.  

Figure 12
Number of licence renewals granted in 2014

Licence type Auditor Audit 
expert

Total 2014 Total 2013

Sole proprietorships 133 154 287 110

Audit fi rms 390 885 1,275 247

State-regulated audit fi rms 0 3 3 1

Total licence renewals 523 1,042 1,565 358

Licences could be renewed within the 
deadline for 76 percent of all audit 
fi rms subject to licence renewal in 
2014. For various reasons – such as 
cessation of business activities, retire-
ment, fi rm restructuring or lack of 
engagements – a further 16 percent 
of audit fi rms notifi ed the FAOA that 
they did not wish to renew their li-
cences. Six percent of fi rms did not 
submit any documentation to the 
FAOA and were therefore deleted 
from the FAOA public register at the 
end of the fi ve year-term licence. For 
only less than two percent of audit 
fi rms who submitted at least some 
documentation was it not possible to 
renew the licence or not renew it be-
fore the expiry of the existing licence 
due to serious identifi ed defi ciencies, 
such as the lack of quorums or sig-
nifi cant quality assurance system defi -

ciencies. Following the rectifi cation of 
the existing defi ciencies the majority 
of deleted audit fi rms who were seek-
ing a licence renewal could have their 
licences renewed retroactively and be 
entered in the FAOA register.

The waivers and deletions of the li-
cence renewal process lead to an ex-
pected reduction of 341 in the total 
number of audit fi rms registered with 
the FAOA at the end of 2014, the 
new total being 3,157 sole proprie-
torships and audit fi rms (including 23 
state-regulated audit fi rms).
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Duty to inform and notify

All FAOA licensed individuals and au-
dit fi rms must notify the FAOA imme-
diately of every matter that is impor-
tant to the assessment of licensing 
conditions (Art. 15a AOA). This duty 
to notify applies until the cancellation 
of the existing licence. The duty to 
notify also applies to non-legally bind-
ing civil and criminal law judgements 
and settlements in courts of the fi rst 
or higher instance, the issuance of loss 
certifi cates, professional law proceed-
ings heard before a professional body 
and audit-related civil and criminal 
proceedings. 

The obligation to notify is normally met 
if the relevant on-line entry is amend-
ed and any documentation submitted 
to the FAOA within 10 working days. 
The FAOA checks whether the on-line 
entries are current based on its own 
fi ndings and third party notifi cations. 
Particularly as regards address and job 
changes, the FAOA repeatedly fi nds 
breaches of the duty to notify. Breach-
es of the duty to notify are often also 
seen as a result of business cessations, 
retirement and death. Individuals and 
audit fi rms that breach the duty to no-
tify can be fi ned (Art. 39 para. 1 indent 
b AOA). In rare cases – mostly relating 
to out-of-date role descriptions of in-
dividuals within audit fi rms – incorrect 
information must be deleted or cor-
rected by way of FAOA order. Such or-
ders carry charges and these are billed 
in full to the defaulting individuals and 
audit fi rms. 
.

Auditor independence
Same norm for the ordinary and 
limited audit

For both the ordinary (Art. 728 para. 1 
CO) and limited audit (Art. 729 para. 1 
CO) the law requires the auditor to be 
independent and to reach an objective 
audit opinion. In both cases the inde-
pendence of the auditor may not be 
impaired either in fact or appearance. 
To the benefi t of the limited audit the 
law grants two exceptions: First, it is 
permissible in principle to provide ac-
counting assistance and other services 
to the audited entity; if there is a risk 
of self auditing suitable organisation-
al and staffi ng arrangements must 
be made to ensure that a reliable au-
dit takes place (Art. 729 para. 2 CO). 
Secondly, there is no requirement 
for the engagement leader to rotate 
after seven years (Art. 730a para. 2 
CO). Conversely, this means that the 
seven examples of matters incompat-
ible with independence that are men-
tioned in the law (Art. 728 para. 2 CO) 
apply to both the ordinary and limited 
audit. Since the enactment of the law 
in 2008 the practice of the FAOA fol-
lows these requirements. The rulings 
of the Federal Administrative Courts 
and the Federal Supreme Court follow 
the same concept.

In 2014 the opinion was nevertheless 
occasionally encountered that the 
legislator had wanted to provide for 
very general, rather than only selec-
tive, relief for limited audits as regards 
independence or that the old inde-
pendence rules (Art. 727c CO 1991) 
still applied, at least in substance. 
Thus, for example, it should be per-
missible for an auditor – according to 
the respective author – to hold up to 
10 or 20 percent of the audit client’s 
shares or to generate up to 30 or 60 
percent of total fees from one audit 
client. A further contentious area 
relates to (impermissible) close links 
between exponents of the audit fi rm 
and representatives of the audited 
entity12. All social contacts, including 
friendships, should be acceptable. 

In the absence of a legal foundation, 
there is no place for further excep-
tions alongside the above-mentioned 
scenarios (accounting assistance and 
auditor-in-charge rotation). There is 
no evidence in the documentation 
(submission, parliamentary consulta-
tion) of a general «more generous» 
defi nition of independence for the 
limited audit13.

The above-mentioned postulates ul-
timately arise from the dissatisfaction 
of certain individuals and professional 
associations with the applicable law 
and not from basic questions of inter-
pretation that have been «overseen» 
by all parties in the now seven years 
that the law has applied. 

Actual practice offers little help to the 
professionals with their new interpre-
tations of independence. It could last 
years before the courts decide if and 
how to classify them against estab-
lished sources of law. This could harm 
legal certainty considerably. This is all 
the more true as the postulates signif-
icantly contradict the standard on the 
limited audit (SER), which was devel-
oped by the professional associations 
and declared by them to be binding 
for their members. It is not benefi cial 
to the importance and credibility of 
self-regulation for the standard to be 
questioned by its own exponents. 
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12 Cf. in addition, the detailed description 
of Widmer/Sanwald, «Enge Beziehungen 
zwischen Revisionsstelle und geprüftem Un-
ternehmen, Abgrenzungsfragen im Bereich 
der Unabhängigkeit», ST 2014, 1094 f.

13 Cf. in addition, the convincing explanations 
of Christian Haas, expertise of 10 Septem-
ber 2014 on the independence of the limi-
ted audit, download from the homepage 
of the Swiss Institute of Certifi ed Accoun-
tants (Publication date 1 December 2014).
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Already today, experts (banks, tax au-
thorities etc.) are increasingly drawing 
no distinction between bookkeeping 
and the limited audit. The independ-
ence of the auditor is, in the public 
perception at least, the decisive dis-
tinguishing feature. Over the long 
term all participants have an interest 
in the limited audit being a «quality 
product», which adds economic value 
vis-à-vis bare bookkeeping. Reducing 
the level of independence would have 
the opposite effect and the distinc-
tion between these products would 
be unnecessarily eroded or even elim-
inated. This could lead to more audit-
ed entities waiving a limited audit or 
requesting an ordinary audit. 

For several years there has been a 
general increase in the ethical stand-
ards expected of those in politics and 
business. The ideas mentioned above 
represent a set-back to independ-
ence that could harm the credibility 
of the limited audit and the reputa-
tion of the SME audit market. Most 
people would not understand why 
an auditor would take a direct stake 
in the audited entity or why the au-
ditor-in-charge would maintain close 
friendships with representatives of 
that entity. The resulting conflicts of 
interest would be obvious even for 
the layman. There is therefore a risk 
that the profession will be accused of 
being outmoded and uncritical.

Rotation of the auditor-in-charge

The person in charge of an ordinary 
audit can perform this role for a max-
imum of seven years. This person can 
accept the same engagement again 
only after a break of three years (Art. 
730a para. 2 CO). Prior to the enact-
ment of the new audit law the date at 
which these seven years began was 
disputed. The Federal Council there-
fore stipulated in an enabling provi-
sion that this is 1 January 2008, the 
date on which the relevant change 
to the CO was enacted. The audi-
tor-in-charge can therefore audit a 

maximum of another seven financial 
statements (Art. 51 AOO) after the 
enactment.

Consequently, if the financial year is 
the same as the calendar year and the 
audit takes place in the first quarter 
of the following year the same audi-
tor-in-charge may audit the financial 
statements of 2008 to 2014. The 
2015 financial statements must be 
audited by a new auditor-in-charge. 
It is recommended that the affected 
audit firms make the necessary or-
ganisational arrangements as early as 
possible.
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Enforcement

In the reporting year fi ve applications 
were rejected (prior year: 11). Seven 
applicants withdrew their applica-
tions or licences (prior year: seven). All 
applications could be proceeded with 
(prior year: fi ve applications were not 
proceeded with due to incomplete 
documentation). Additionally, 21 li-
cence withdrawals were imposed (pri-
or year: 15) but no reprimands issued 
(prior year: fi ve). 

Court rulings

The Federal Administrative Court 
(FAC) and Federal Supreme Court 
(FSC) addressed nine FAOA orders. 
They confi rmed the practice of 
the FAOA in each case. In only one 
case was the FAOA fi le returned for 
re-consideration. In two rulings the 
FAC criticised defi ciencies in audit 
work. These two rulings and a par-
ticularly noteworthy ruling concern-
ing independence are presented in 
detail below. The other rulings simi-
larly concern breaches of independ-
ence or the licensing conditions for 
training and professional experience. 
A list of all 2014 rulings is given in the 
appendices.

In the fi rst case14, the FAOA had 
found the auditor-in-charge not to 
have exercised proper duty of care. 
He had overlooked the fact that the 
consolidated fi nancial statements of 
the public company under audit over-
stated the value of a loan, and conse-
quently also the loss for the year, by 
CHF 14 million. The FAC held the is-
sued reprimand to be legal. In so do-
ing the FAC had decided that breach-
es of ISA and SAS requirements could 
be sanctioned by the FAOA. This did 
not, however, apply to the internal di-
rectives of the audit fi rm. Conversely, 
this means that the auditor-in-charge 
cannot absolve him or herself by 
claiming to have followed internal 
directives if his or her work breach-
es the requirements of ISA or SAS. 

The court also found that the so-
called «20 percent rule» (under Art. 
6 para. 1 indent b AOA at least one 
fi fth of the individuals providing audit 
services must be licensed) had been 
breached signifi cantly. The court pre-
sumed that there was a suffi cient link 
between the breach of this require-
ment and the failure to challenge the 
over-valuation of the loan and loss. It 
was also confi rmed that the working 
hours of auditors with foreign qual-
ifi cations and without a licence (e.g. 
also due to lack of reciprocity by the 
home country) qualifi ed as working 
hours of individuals without a licence.  

The second case15 related to the 
audit of a pension fund. Based on 
a working paper review the FAOA 
had found multiple defi ciencies. The 
auditor-in-charge had opined that 
the fi nancial statements had been 
prepared in accordance with the ac-
counting standards Swiss GAAP FER 
although the standards were not ac-
tually followed in all cases. No audit 
strategy had been prepared or doc-
umented for the engagement, the 
documented audit procedures were 
defi cient and not performed accord-
ing to statutory and professional re-
quirements. The auditor-in-charge 
had also performed no procedures 
with respect to fraud even though 
he had not received any notes to the 
fi nancial statements despite multiple 
requests. He had also failed to per-
form audit procedures with respect 
to the investment regulations and to 
the management and organisation 
of the pension fund. Related party 
transactions and the administration 
costs of the pension fund were also 
not audited. The FAC concluded that 
all the listed defi ciencies were legiti-
mate and would lead to licence with-
drawal. In doing so it also clarifi ed 
that although FAOA Circular 1/2008, 
on the recognition of auditing stand-
ards by the FAOA, only applied to 
state-regulated audit fi rms, this can-
not be taken to mean that the SAS 
do not apply to all auditors and audit 
fi rms. The court also concluded, how-

ever, that the FAOA must explain in 
more depth why a licence withdrawal 
of fi ve years was justifi ed and not a 
shorter one. The case was therefore 
returned to the FAOA for clarifi cation 
on this point.

The third case16 related to breach of 
independence. The auditor had audit-
ed the fi nancial statements (ordinary 
audit) of an entity although a com-
pany belonging to the same group as 
the auditor had provided accounting 
assistance to the audited entity. The 
court concluded that the law forbids 
the provision of services if this creates 
the risk of self-auditing. This covers 
accounting assistance in particular 
but also other activities such as the 
preparation of fi nancial statements, 
the development and implementa-
tion of fi nancial information systems 
and internal audit. Providing payroll 
accounting assistance and preparing 
and correcting the annual fi nancial 
statements are deemed specifi cally to 
represent impermissible accounting 
assistance. The activities of the audi-
tor must not lead to the appearance 
of self-auditing. Appearance alone is 
suffi cient to make a service incom-
patible with independence. The court 
also examined the connection be-
tween the two companies mentioned 
above. The question whether two 
companies belong to the same group 
or not is to be judged based on the 
facts through the eyes of an average 
viewer with general life experience. 
Therefore, the «group concept» must 
also be interpreted from the perspec-
tive of appearance.

Enforcement and court rulings | FAOA 2014

Enforcement and court rulings

14 FAC Decision No. B-3736/2012 of 
7 January 2014

15 FAC Decision No. B-6585/2013 of
27 August 2014

16 FAC decision No. B-5431/2013 of
17 November 2014. 
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Statistics 2011–2014

Statistics on the proceedings of 2007 
to 2010 with negative outcome for 
the individual or fi rm concerned were 
published in the Activity Report 2010. 
A similar compilation for the peri-
od 2011 to 2014 is shown below17. 
Compared to the previous period the 
number of such proceedings has fall-
en 38 percent, from 308 to 191. This 
is mainly because there were a series 
of transitional issues to consider from 
2007 to 2010 that no longer play a 
role or a signifi cant role.

Sabine D’Amelio, FAOA, FAOA Seminar 2014 in Lausanne

17 Pending appeals not included. Determin-
ing factor is therefore the status of the 
licensing process within the register of au-
ditors as per 31 December 2014. The anal-
ysis was prepared completely anew; due 
to methodological improvements and er-
ror corrections the amounts do not agree 
completely with earlier Activity Reports.
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Individuals 2011–2014

Type of order Deficiency Case category Number %

Non-receipt of application Duty to cooperate No documentation submitted 7 4

Application rejected Duty to cooperate Incomplete application 3 2

Swiss education Qualification not as per Art. 4 para. 2  
indent a–c AOA

3 2

Professional  
experience

Insufficient supervised professional experience
Insufficient length of professional experience
Lack of professional experience in audit

11
11
3

7
7
2

Reputation Breach of independence
Convictions under civil or criminal law
Auditing without a licence
Financial situation
Deficient auditing 
Incompetence

2
1
7
1
–
–

1
1
4
1
–
–

Foreign education Qualification not as per Art. 4 para. 2  
indent d AOA
Lack of reciprocity
Lack of knowledge of Swiss law

3

7
5

2

4
3

Rejection as audit expert, 
but licensed as auditor

Professional  
experience

Insufficient professional experience, respectively 
supervised professional experience

9 6

Licence withdrawal Reputation Breach of independence 
Convictions under civil or criminal law
Auditing without a licence 
Financial situation
Deficient auditing
Incompetence

29
5
9
1
3
1

18
3
6
1
2
1

Written reprimand Reputation Breach of independence 
Auditing without a licence 
Deficient auditing

26
7
5

16
4
3

Total orders against individuals 159 100

Audit firms 2011–2014

Type of order Deficiency Case category Number %

Non-receipt of application Duty to cooperate – 6 19

Application rejected Duty to cooperate Incomplete application 5 16

Quality assurance 
system

– – –

Quorum not 
achieved 

Non-compliance with Art. 6 AOA 7 22

Rejection as audit expert, but 
licensed as auditor

Quorum not 
achieved 

Non-compliance with Art. 6 AOA 1 3

Licence withdrawal Quorum not 
achieved 

Non-compliance with Art. 6 AOA 8 25

Written reprimand Breach of independence
Breach of duty to notify
Deficient or non-timely implementation of 
remedial actions

2
1
2

6
3
6

Total orders against audit firms 32 100

Overall total of proceedings with negative outcome 191
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Legal form Public-law institution with separate legal identity

Incorporation within the 
government administration

Independent unit within the decentralised government administration,  
organisationally attached to the Federal Department of Justice and Police (FDJP)

Registered office Berne

Representative bodies of 
the FAOA

Board of  
Directors

Thomas Rufer (Chairman), Graduate in Business Administration 
and Swiss Certified Accountant

Sabine Kilgus (Vice-Chairman), PD Dr., lawyer 

Renato Fassbind, Dr., US CPA 

Conrad Meyer, Prof., Dr. 

Daniel Oyon, Prof., Dr.

Executive Board Frank Schneider, Chief Executive Officer,  
Swiss Certified Accountant 

Reto Sanwald, Deputy to Chief Executive Officer,  
Head of Legal & International, Dr. iur., attorney 

Pascal Stirnimann, Head of Oversight,  
Swiss Certified Accountant 

Sébastien Derada, Head of Licensing & Support

Auditor Swiss Federal Audit Office (SFAO)

Number of staff 30 staff members, representing 24 full-time equivalents (as of 31.12.2014).  
At the end of the prior year 27 staff members, representing 21 full-time  
equivalents, were employed by the FAOA 

Funding The FAOA finances itself entirely from the fees and oversight charges levied on 
licensed individuals and audit firms under oversight. No taxpayers’ money is used. 
The FAOA maintains its own accounts outside the Federal budget

Legal function To ensure the proper provision and quality of audit services

Responsibilities Appraisal of licence applications, oversight of the auditors of public interest entities 
and rendering of international administrative assistance in the audit oversight area.

Independence/Oversight The FAOA performs its oversight activities independently but is subject to the 
oversight of the Federal Council. It reports annually to the Federal Council and the 
Federal Assembly on its activities

Organisation of the FAOA
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Index of abbreviations 

AMLA Anti-Money Laundering Act of 10 October 1997 (SR 955.0)

AOA Audit Oversight Act of 15 December 2005 (SR 221.302)

AOO Audit Oversight Ordinance of 22 August 2007 (SR 221.302.3)

CAIM Common Audit Inspection Methodology

CaO Casino Ordinance of 24 September 2004 (SR 935.521)

CISA Collective Investment Schemes Act of 23 June 2006 (SR 951.31)

CO Swiss Code of Obligation of 30 March 1911 (SR 220)

D- Draft

DSFI Financial intermediary directly supervised by FINMA

EAIG European Audit Inspection Group

EQCR Engagement Quality Control Reviewer

EWG Enforcement Working Group

FAC Federal Administrative Court

FCC Federal Casino Commission

FINMA Federal Financial Market Supervisory Authority

FINMASA Financial Market Supervision Act of 22 June 2007 (SR 956.1)

FINMAO Financial Market Auditing Ordinance of 15 October 2008 (SR 956.161)

FOPH Federal Office of Public Health

FSC Federal Supreme Court

FSIO Federal Social Insurance Office

G-SIBs Global Systemically Important Banks

IAASB International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board

ICWG International Cooperation Working Group

IESBA International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants 

IFIAR International Forum of Independent Audit Regulators

ISA International Standards on Auditing

ISQC 1 International Standard on Quality Control 1

IWWG Inspection Workshop Working Group

MMoU Multilateral Memorandum of Understanding

MoU Memorandum of Understanding

OO-FAOA Oversight Ordinance FAOA of 17 March 2008 (SR 221.302.33)

OPSC Occupational Pension Supervisory Committee

PCAOB Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

PD- Preliminary draft

SQCS 1 Swiss Quality Control Standard 1 (effective as from 15.12.2013)  
of the Swiss Institute of Certified Accountants

SAS Swiss Auditing Standards of the Swiss Institute of Certified Accountants

SCWG Standards Coordination Working Group

SER SIX Exchange Regulation

SME Small and medium-sized enterprises

SMI Swiss Market Index

SoP Statement of Protocol

SRO Self-regulatory organisation 

SSC Shared Service Centre
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Additional Swiss audit licences

A special or special-law licence, based 
on a basic licence under the AOA and 
respectively issued by either the FAOA 
or another authority, must be ob-
tained for audit activities in the areas 

shown below. In some audit areas the 
basic FAOA licence is suffi cient (sta-
tus: 01.01.2015):

18 Includes fund managers, investment 
funds, open-ended investment schemes 
(SICAV), limited partnerships for collective 
investment schemes, investment compa-
nies with fi xed capital (SICAF), asset man-
agers and managers of collective invest-
ment schemes as well as representatives 
of foreign collective investment schemes.

19 Generally, the licensed audit fi rm need 
only meet the requirements for an audit 
fi rm licensed as an auditor but if it also 
audits a fi nancial intermediary supervised 
directly by FINMA (DSFI) under the provi-
sions of AMLA it must have the status of a 
state-regulated audit fi rm.  

20 The FAOA is responsible for the licence to 
audit a DSFI. The licence to audit a fi nan-
cial intermediary that is a member of an 
SRO is the responsibility of the respective 
SRO (Art. 11a AOO).

21 However, there is an exception: Only au-
dit fi rms that hold a state-regulated audit 
fi rm licence can act as the auditor of in-
vestment foundations (Art. 9 of the Ordi-
nance of 22 June 2011 relating to invest-
ment foundations, ASV; SR 831.403.2).

Audit in the area of Basic licence under 
the AOA: Audit fi rm

Basic licence under 
the AOA: 
Auditor-in-charge

Responsible 
for special or 
special-law 
licence

Additional 
requirements

Banks/stock exchanges/
securities traders/
central mortgage bond 
institutions

State-regulated
audit fi rm

Audit expert FAOA Art. 9a AOA, 
Art. 11a f. AOO

Collective
investment schemes18

State-regulated
audit fi rm

Audit expert FAOA Art. 9a AOA, 
Art. 11a f. AOO

Insurance State-regulated
audit fi rm

Audit expert FAOA Art. 9a AOA, 
Art. 11a f. AOO

Financial intermediaries 
(anti-money laundering) 

Auditor 
(State-regulated
audit fi rm)19

Auditor FAOA/SRO20 Art. 9a AOA 
Art. 11a f. AOO 
and Art. 24 AMLA

Pension schemes Audit expert21 Audit expert (OPSC) –

Health insurance 
schemes

Audit expert Audit expert (FOPH) –

Casinos Audit expert Audit expert FCC Art. 75 CaO

AHV-Swiss 
Compensation Offi ces

Audit expert Audit expert (FSIO) –
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Status: 31 December 2014 

State-regulated audit firms

42

No. FAOA company/name Location

500003 PricewaterhouseCoopers AG Zürich

500012 T & R AG Gümligen

500038 Grant Thornton Bankrevision AG Zürich

500149 OBT AG St. Gallen

500241 MAZARS SA Genève 

500420 Deloitte AG Zürich

500436 REFIDAR MOORE STEPHENS AG Glattbrugg

500498 PKF Wirtschaftsprüfung AG Zürich

500505 Treuhand- und Revisionsgesellschaft Mattig-Suter und Partner Schwyz

500646 Ernst & Young AG Basel

500705 BDO AG Zürich

500762 Balmer-Etienne AG Luzern

500959 BDO Visura International AG Zürich

501091 Provida Wirtschaftsprüfung AG St. Gallen

501382 Berney & Associés SA Société Fiduciaire Genève

501403 KPMG AG Zürich

501470 Ferax Treuhand AG Zürich

501570 Fiduciaire FIDAG SA Martigny

501839 Grant Thornton AG Zürich

502658 Treureva AG Zürich

504689 SWA Swiss Auditors AG Pfäffikon

504736 PKF Certifica SA Lugano

504792 Asset Management Audit & Compliance Genève
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Cooperation with foreign authorities

Status: 31 December 2014 

Country Authority Form Completion 
year

USA Public Company Accounting  
Oversight Board (PCAOB)

SoP 2011,
renewed 2014

Germany German Audit Oversight Commission (GAOC) MoU 2012

Netherlands Netherlands Authority for  
the Financial Markets (AFM)

MoU 2012

France French High Council for Statutory Auditors (H3C) Cooperation Protocol 2013

Liechtenstein Financial Market Authority, (FMA) MoU 2013

Luxembourg Commission de Surveillance  
du Secteur Financier (CSSF)

MoU 2013

Finland Auditing Board of the Central Chamber  
of Commerce (AB3C)

MoU 2014

Great Britain Financial Reporting Council (FRC) MoU 2014

Canada Canadian Public Accountability Board (CPAB) MoU 2014

43



44 Appendix | FAOA 2014 

Swiss audit fi rms in the EU22

Status: 31 December 2014 

Country Registered Swiss audit fi rm

Germany
(German Audit Oversight Commission, GAOC) 

As a result of the MoU between Germany and Switzer-
land there is no registration obligation in Germany

Great Britain
(Professional Oversight Board, FRC)

Deloitte AG, Ernst & Young AG, KPMG AG, PwC AG (4)

Finland
(The Auditing Board of the Central Chamber 
of Commerce of Finland)

Ernst & Young AG (1)

France
(French High Council for Statutory Auditors)

Ernst & Young AG, KPMG AG, PwC AG (3)

Ireland
(Irish Auditing & Accounting Supervisory Authority)

Ernst & Young AG, KPMG AG, PwC AG (3)

Italy 
(CONSOB)

Ernst & Young AG, KPMG AG, PwC AG (3)

Liechtenstein
(Financial Market Authority FMA) 

(21)23

Luxembourg
(Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier)

Deloitte AG, Ernst & Young AG, KPMG AG, 
PwC AG (4)

Netherlands
(Netherlands Authority for the Financial Markets)

Ernst & Young AG (1)

Spain 
(Accounting and Auditing Institute ICAC)

PwC AG (1)

Sweden
(Swedish Supervisory Board of Public Accountants)

Ernst & Young AG, KPMG AG, PwC AG (3)

22 Source: Notifi cation to the FAOA from the 
audit fi rms. It should be remembered that 
it is a requirement to report registrations 
with foreign oversight authorities to the 
FAOA (margin note 22 indent c section 1 
of Circular 1/2010 of 31 March 2010 on 
reporting by state-regulated audit fi rms 
to the FAOA). No distinction is drawn be-
tween provisional and defi nitive registra-
tion. The authority of the Swiss audit fi rms 
to provide statutory audit services in these 
countries is decisive.

23 Allemann, Zinsli & Partner AG, Bankrevi-
sions- und Treuhand AG, BDO AG, Bu-
chhaltungs- und Revisions-AG, Curator 
Revision AG, Ernst & Young AG, Fiduci-
aria Biaggini S.A., Haussmann & Partner, 
Haussmann Revision AG, KPMG AG, Lie 
Audit GmbH, Mittner + Partner, Treuhand 
Beratung Revision Kommanditgesellschaft, 
Ostschweizerische Revisionsgesellschaft 
AG, Ostschweizerische Treuhand-Ge-
sellschaft AG, PricewaterhouseCoopers 
AG, Revigroup Lugano SA, Revion Treu-
hand AG, RRT AG Treuhand und Revision, 
TEAG Treuhandbüro Eggenberger AG, 
WPS Revision AG and Wälti Treuhand und 
Revisionen AG.
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Court rulings 2014

The following is a complete list of the 
rulings of the federal courts relating 
to FAOA practice. The rulings appear 
in chronological order, with a short 
note on the subject matter dealt with 
and on the conclusion of the court.

−	FAC Decision No. B-3736/2012 of 
7 January 2014: Failure of audi-
tor-in-charge to exercise due care 
(CHF 14 million overvaluation of 
a loan and overstatement of the 
loss for the year by a public com-
pany without objection by the au-
ditor-in-charge). Reprimand of the 
auditor-in-charge. Dismissal of ap-
peal. 

−	FSC Decision No. 2C_690/2013 
of 24 January 2014: Breach of in-
dependence. Audit of the financial 
statements of a company for which 
the auditor had provided account-
ing assistance and performed con-
trolling services. Audit of five com-
panies whose directors included 
the auditor’s employer. Rejection 
of application for audit expert li-
cence, possibility of re-application 
one year after the court’s decision. 
Dismissal of appeal.

−	FAC Decision No. B-4533/2012 of 
27 January 2014: Lack of profes-
sional education. Master of Busi-
ness Administration (MBA) of the 
Institut Européen d’Administration 
des Affaires (INSEAD, France) does 
not qualify as a second level of ed-
ucational study at a university or 
technical college (Art. 5 AOO). Re-
jection of licence application. Dis-
missal of appeal.

−	FAC Decision No. B-2765/2013 of 
20 March 2014: Breach of inde-
pendence. Participation in the au-
dit of the financial statements of 
six companies as a member of the 
board of directors and executive 
board of the audit firm or as audi-
tor-in-charge despite close relation-
ship with a director of the audited 

companies. Licence withdrawal for 
two years. Dismissal of appeal.

−	FAC Decision No. B-6585/2013 of 
27 August 2014: Grave deficiencies 
in the audit of a pension founda-
tion (breach of legal, regulatory 
and professional law requirements, 
lack of audit strategy, insufficient 
professional scepticism). Licence 
withdrawal for five years. Deficien-
cies confirmed but appeal accepted 
to the extent that the case was re-
turned to the FAOA for additional 
clarification as to the period of li-
cence withdrawal.

−	FAC Decision No. B-6251/2012 of 
8 September 2014: Breach of in-
dependence. Audit of the financial 
statements of a foundation over 
many years, despite a member of 
the board of directors, respectively 
executive board, of the audit firm 
being a board member of the foun-
dation at the same time. Licence 
withdrawal for two years. Dismissal 
of appeal. 

−	FAC Decision No. B-5431/2013 of 
17 November 2014: Breach of in-
dependence. Risk of self-auditing 
where one firm audits the financial 
statements of a company (ordinary 
audit), the other provides account-
ing assistance to the audited com-
pany and the two firms belong to 
the same group. The term group is 
interpreted from a «breach of inde-
pendence in appearance» point of 
view. Licence withdrawal for three 
years. Dismissal of appeal.

−	FAC Decision No. B-6834/2013 of 
25 November 2014: Professional 
experience. Use of hardship clause 
(Art. 43 para. 6 AOA). Professional 
experience gained prior to com-
mencement of recognised training 
cannot be taken account of as part 
of a hardship case. Rejection of ap-
plication for licence as audit expert. 
Dismissal of appeal.

−	FSC Decision No. Nr. 2C_211/2014 
of 4 December 2014: Lack of pro-
fessional education. Master of 
Business Administration (MBA; ob-
tained abroad) does not qualify as 
a second level of educational study 
at a university or technical college 
and is therefore not recognised as 
education under the law. Rejection 
of licence application. Dismissal of 
appeal.

Status: 31 December 2014
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Equivalent foreign educational qualifications 

Status: 31 December 2014

Country Equivalent foreign educational qualifications

Germany Bestellungsurkunde Wirtschaftsprüfer

France Diplôme Supérieur de Comptabilité et de Gestion (formerly known as: Diplôme d’études 
supérieures comptables et financières) and Diplôme d’expertise comptable

Great Britain Chartered/Certified Accountant
Memberships bei: ICAEW, ICAS, ICAI, ACCA, AIA + Audit permission

Ireland Chartered/Certified Accountant 
Membership of: ICAEW, ICAS, ICAI, ACCA, ICPAI, IIPA + Audit permission

Italy Dottore commercialista (Ragioniere e perito commerciale; Laurea/Dottore in economia 
e commercio; Dottore in economia aziendale; Dottore in economia delle istituzioni e dei 
mercati finanziari; Laurea in economia e professione)

India Chartered Accountant

Netherlands Registeraccountant

Norway Studiet i revisjon (registered auditor, state authorised auditor) 

Austria Bestellungsurkunde Wirtschaftsprüfer

Philippines Certified Public Accountant (CPA)

Sweden Approved/Authorised public accountant

Turkey Certified Public Accountant
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Financial statements of the FAOA

Balance sheet

Note 31.12.2014 31.12.2013

Cash at bank and in hand 4 6,531,504 5,158,830

Receivables  5 244,597 164,978

Work-in-progress 6 251,000 153,000

Prepayments 7 64,836 74,570

Current assets 7,091,937 5,551,378

Investments 10 259,039 93,984

Tangible fixed assets 8 408,113 459,182

Intangible fixed assets 9 89,987 362,193

Non-current assets 757,139 915,359

Total assets 7,849,076 6,466,737

Short term liabilities relating to services 119,317 90,164

Liabilities to state-regulated audit firms 11 80,109 46,736

Social security liabilities 122,492 109,507

Short-term provisions 12 182,800 203,000

Accruals 13 325,278 283,810

Accrued licensing fees 15 720,260 430,840

Current liabilities 1,550,256 1,164,057

Accrued licensing fees 15 1,798,820 802,680

Non-current liabilities 1,798,820 802,680

Reserves 16 4,500,000 4,500,000

Equity 4,500,000 4,500,000

Total liabilities 7,849,076 6,466,737

(in CHF)
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Income statement

Note 
01.01.2014 

 –31.12.2014
01.01.2013 

 –31.12.2013

Oversight charges 2 (l) 2,999,891 3,003,264

Inspection fees 2 (l) 1,278,863 1,297,483

Licensing fees 17, 2 (l) 1,206,664 963,241

Other income 18 492,234 337,422

Net revenue 5,977,651 5,601,410

Personnel expense 19 - 4,968,967 -4,595,307

Operating expense 20 - 788,852 - 880,720

Depreciation and amortisation 8, 9 -234,764 -142,911

Operating profit -14,932 -17,528

Financial income 15,646 18,049

Financial expense -714 -521

Financial result 14,932 17,528

Profit/ loss – –

(in CHF)
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Cash flow statement (in CHF)

Note
01.01.2014  

–31.12.2014
01.01.2013  

–31.12.2013

Depreciation of fixed assets 8, 9 234,764 142,911

Increase/ (decrease) in accrued licensing fees (long-term) 15 996,140 551,400

(Increase) /decrease in debtors* 5 -24,619 18,106

(Increase) /decrease in work-in-progress 6 -98,000 137,000

(Increase) /decrease in prepayments 7 9,734 -49,904

Increase/ (decrease) in liabilities 62,526 -82,878

Increase/ (decrease) in social security liabilities 12,985 41,966

Increase/ (decrease) in short-term provisions 12 -20,200 -2,000

Increase/ (decrease) in accruals 13 41,468 -27,103

Increase/ (decrease) in accrued licensing fees (short-term) 15 289,420 61,040

Net cash flows from operating activities 1,504,218 790,538

Acquisition of investments* 10 -56 -98

Acquisition of tangible fixed assets 8 -72,191 -182,053

Acquisition of intangible fixed assets* 9 -59,298 -67,647

Net cash flows from investing activities -131,545 -249,798

Change in cash and cash in hand 1,372,674 540,740

Cash and cash in hand at the start of the year 4 5,158,830 4,618,090

Cash and cash in hand at year-end 4 6,531,504 5,158,830

01.01.2014  
–31.12.2014

01.01.2013  
–31.12.2013

Opening balance as of 01.01. 4,500,000 4,500,000

Transfer to reserves 0 0

Balance as of 31.12. 4,500,000 4,500,000

*Due to the realignment of a current 
IT project, intangible assets of CHF 
55,000 and CHF 165,000 respec-

tively were re-classified to receiva-
bles and investments (see Note 9). 
Since these re-classifications are 

non-cash items they have not been 
reflected in the cash flow statement.
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1. Operating activities

The FAOA is a public-law institution 
of the Federal Government and has 
its registered office in Berne. It serves 
as a licensing body and administers a 
public register of the individuals and 
firms who provide audit services as 
defined by the AOA. Further, it over-
sees audit firms who provide audit 
services to public companies, respec-
tively public interest entities as from 1 
January 2015. 

The FAOA conducts its oversight in-
dependently, organises itself, and 
finances itself entirely from the fees 
paid by service users and the charges 
paid by state-regulated audit firms. 
The FAOA is autonomous in its or-
ganisation and management and 
maintains its own accounts. 

Since 1 September 2012 the FAOA 
has exercised oversight over the fi-
nancial audits of listed banks, in-
surance companies and collective 
investment schemes. Following par-
liament’s adoption of the «bundling 
submission» on 20 June 2014 the 
FAOA has had sole oversight author-
ity over audit firms since 1 January 
2015. This applies both to the finan-
cial and regulatory audit. With respect 
to this transfer of responsibilities from 
FINMA, the FAOA recruited addition-
al personnel during 2013, who were 
lent out to FINMA until the transfer 
became definitive.

As at 31 December 2014 the FAOA 
employed 30 employees, represent-
ing 24 full-time equivalents. At the 
end of the prior year 27 employees, 
representing 21 full-time equivalents, 
worked at the FAOA. 

2. Accounting policies
a. Introduction

These financial statements of the 
FAOA are prepared having regard to 
the requirements of the International 
Public Sector Accounting Standards 

(IPSAS), while early adopting Article 
957 f. of the Swiss Civil Code (Art. 35 
para. 2 AOA). The accounting policies 
of the FAOA differ from the IPSAS in 
the pensions area:

These financial statements are entity 
financial statements for the financial 
year comprising calendar year 2014 
with a balance sheet date of 31 De-
cember 2014 (including compara-
tives). The reporting currency is Swiss 
francs (CHF).

Unless otherwise stated, assets and 
liabilities are valued at historical or 
production cost, which is normal-
ly the nominal value. Expenses and 
revenues are booked in the period in 
which they occur.

The amounts stated in the financial 
statements are rounded to the nearest 
Swiss franc and can therefore include 
immaterial rounding differences.

b. Cash at bank and in hand

Cash at bank and in hand comprises 
petty cash, current accounts at finan-
cial institutions and an investment ac-
count at the Federal Finance Admin-
istration (FFA). Under Art. 36 para. 1 
AOA the FAOA is obliged to deposit 
excess funds with the Federal Gov-
ernment.

The amounts are stated at nominal 
value.

c. Receivables relating to services

Receivables are stated at nominal 
value after allowance for possible im-
pairments.

d. Work-in-progress 

Work-in-progress relating to inspec-
tions is valued using the applicable 
daily rates per Art. 39 para. 2 AOO. 

e. Tangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets are accounted 
for at cost less required write-downs. 
Depreciation is calculated on a linear 
basis over the expected useful life of 
the asset.

Asset category Useful life 
(years)

Furniture and 
furnishings

10

Office  
equipment,  
IT equipment 
(hardware)

3

Fixtures and 
fittings

10

The residual value, useful life and 
method of depreciation of a tangible 
fixed asset is checked at each balance 
sheet date and adjusted if appropri-
ate.

Where the book value of a tangible 
fixed asset exceeds the recoverable 
amount of that asset the difference is 
booked to the income statement as 
an impairment charge.

Tangible fixed assets disposed of are 
written-off at book value. Revenue 
arising upon the disposal of tangible 
fixed assets is disclosed separately in 
the income statement.

Notes to the 2014 financial statements

IPSAS 25 requires pension costs to 
be expensed in the period in which 
a «current obligation» arises. IP-
SAS also requires comprehensive 
disclosure of employee benefit 
plans in the notes. IPSAS further 
requires the periodic preparation 
of an actuarial valuation. In these 
financial statements the employer 
and risk contributions paid to the 
FAOA employee benefit plans are 
expensed. The surpluses and defi-
cits that might arise from an actu-
arial valuation are not accounted 
for. 
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f. Intangible fixed assets

Intangible fixed assets are accounted 
for at purchase or production cost, 
less required write-downs. Amortisa-
tion is calculated on a linear basis over 
the expected useful life of the asset.

Asset category Useful life 
(years)

Licensing regis-
ter software

5

Other software 3

The residual value, useful life and 
method of amortisation of an intan-
gible fixed asset is checked at each 
balance sheet date and adjusted if 
appropriate.

Where the book value of an intangible 
fixed asset exceeds the recoverable 
amount of that asset the difference is 
booked to the income statement as 
an impairment charge.

Self-generated goodwill cannot be 
capitalised.

g. Investments

Investments are accounted for at 
market value.

h. Taxes

The FAOA is exempt from all federal, 
cantonal and municipal taxes.

i. Provisions

Provisions include, in particular, short-
term liabilities relating to personnel 
expense.

j. Leasing

Operating leases which cannot be ter-
minated within one year are disclosed 
in the notes to the financial statements.

k. Equity

The FAOA accumulates reserves nec-
essary for the exercise of its oversight 
activities up to a maximum of an an-
nual budget (Art. 35 para. 3 AOA). 
The accumulation of the reserve takes 
place over a period of 5 years and 
is periodically adjusted for changes 
in the annual budget. The FAOA re-
ceived no donated capital upon foun-
dation.

l. Revenues  
(fees and oversight charges)

The FAOA charges fees for its orders, 
inspections and services and levies an 
oversight charge upon state-regulat-
ed audit firms to cover any costs not 
covered by the fees (Art. 21 AOA). 
The fees and oversight charges are 
stipulated in detail in Art. 37 f. AOO.

Fee income for the licensing of audit 
firms is accrued over a period of 5 
years (including licence renewals). Fee 
income for the licensing of individuals 
is taken directly to income. Fee reim-
bursements are charged directly to 
income.

Oversight charges are booked to in-
come in full upon invoicing.

m. Financial result

The financial result comprises interest 
income and interest expense. Interest 
is booked on an accrual basis. The 
FAOA holds no derivative financial in-
struments and does not hedge.

n. Collateral on behalf of third party 
liabilities

The FAOA has provided no collater-
al for third party liabilities (Art. 959c 
para. 2 section 8 CO). 

o. Collateral for own liabilities

The FAOA has provided no collateral 
for its own liabilities (Art. 959c para. 
2 section 9 CO). 

3. Estimation uncertainty

The preparation of financial state-
ments according to generally accept-
ed accounting principles requires the 
use of estimates and assumptions. 
These affect the stated amounts of 
assets and liabilities and the disclosure 
of contingent assets and liabilities as 
at the balance sheet date, as well as 
the stated revenues and expenses. Al-
though these estimates are made to 
the best of knowledge, having due 
regard for current events and possible 
future FAOA measures, actual results 
could differ from the amounts esti-
mated.
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Explanatory information on individual financial statement items

2014 2013

Cash in hand 548 722

Postfinance account 629,861 772,261

Investment account at Federal Finance Administration FFA 5,901,095 4,385,847

Total cash and cash in hand 6,531,504 5,158,830

5. Receivables

As in the prior year, no bad debt pro-
vision was established as the FAOA 
has never suffered a bad debt loss.

6. Work-in-progress

Work-in-progress comprises inspec-
tion fees yet to be invoiced.

7. Prepayments

Prepayments are payments made in 
advance for expenses of the follow-
ing year.

4. Cash and cash in hand (in CHF)

2014 2013

Licence fee receivables 98,244 53,775

Yellowpay receivables 48,488 69,704

Other receivables 97,865 41,499

Total receivables relating to services 244,597 164,978

2014 2013

Work-in-progress 251,000 153,000

Total work-in-progress 251,000 153,000

2014 2013

Prepayments 64,836 74,570

Total Prepayments 64,836 74,570
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Furniture and 
furnishings 

Office 
equipment, 
IT equipment 
(hardware) 

Fixtures and 
fittings 2014 2013

Acquisition costs

Opening balance 376,650 179,152 324,780 880,582 698,529

Acquisitions 16,926 43,635 11,630 72,191 182,053

Disposals – -41,400 – -41,400 –

Closing balance 393,576 181,387 336,410 911,373 880,582

Depreciation

Opening balance -200,877 -109,712 -110,811 -421,400 -295,219

Acquisitions -39,358 -50,261 -33,641 -123,260 -126,181

Disposals – 41,400 – 41,400 –

Closing balance -240,235 -118,573 -144,452 -503,260 -421,400

Net book value 153,341 62,814 191,958 408,113 459,182

8. Tangible fixed assets (in CHF)

At the balance sheet date there was 
no indication that tangible fixed as-
sets were impaired.

There are currently no tangible fixed 
assets that are restricted, subject to 
rights of disposal or pledged. 

The increase of CHF 43,635 in office 
equipment and IT equipment (hard-
ware) relates primarily to the replace-
ment of laptops and monitors.

The increase of CHF 16,926 in the ac-
quisition cost of fixtures and fittings 

in 2014 relates to the purchase of of-
fice furniture.

9. Intangible fixed assets

Software register and  
administration 

Other  
software 2014 2013

Acquisition costs

Opening balance 688,994 126,949 815,943 748,296

Acquisitions  59,298 – 59,298 67,647

Disposals -302,400 – -302,400 –

Closing balance 445,892 126,949 572,841 815,943

Amortisation

Opening balance -343,740 -110,010 -453,750 -437,020

Acquisitions -102,830 -8,674 -111,504 -16,730

Disposals 82,400 – 82,400 –

Closing balance -364,170 -118,684 -482,854 -453,750

Net book value 81,722 8,265 89,987 362,193
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There are currently no intangible fixed 
assets that are restricted, subject to 
rights of disposal or pledged. 

The increase of CHF 59,928 in the ac-
quisition cost of software register and 
administration is attributable to work 
with respect to the modernisation of 
the existing system for special licences 
in connection with the new responsi-
bilities of the FAOA transferred from 
FINMA. 

Due to the realignment of a current 
IT project capitalised project costs of 
CHF 302,400 were derecognised. Of 

these, CHF 82,400 were written-off 
to the income statement and CHF 
55,000, respectively CHF 165,000, 
re-classified to receivables and invest-
ments.

10. Investments

In connection with the rent of offic-
es the FAOA has two tenant deposit 
accounts to the total amount of CHF 
94,039. In addition, there is a long-
term receivable of CHF 165,000 relat-
ing to the termination of an IT project 
(see Note 9). 

11. Liabilities to state-regulated 
audit firms

The FAOA levies an annual oversight 
charge upon state-regulated audit 
firms (see section 2. indent l). An on 
account amount is charged at the 
beginning of the year. Unused on 
account amounts are refunded to 
the state-regulated audit firms in the 
following year. The amount of CHF 
80,109 (prior year CHF 46,736) will 
be credited to the state-regulated au-
dit firms in 2015.

2014 2013

Personnel expense liabilities 172,800 198,000

Provision for compensation 10,000 5,000

Total short-term provisions 182,800 203,000

(in CHF)12. Short-term provisions

Holiday, accrued flexible working 
hours and overtime entitlements are 
calculated and accrued as at 31 De-
cember based on individual employ-
ment terms. 

A provision for compensation was 
established in connection with FAOA 
orders subject to third party appeal 
(particularly licence application rejec-
tions).

13. Accruals

Accruals primarily relate to personnel 
expense and accruals for the cost of 
the Activity Report 2014.
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14. Operating leases (off-balance sheet)

2014 2013

Minimum payments within one year 10,740 10,740

Minimum payments in years 2 to 6 21,480 32,220

Operating leases comprise off-bal-
ance sheet liabilities relating to a 
contract with Triumph-Adler for mul-

ti-purpose equipment. The current 
contract has a total term of 6 years 
(1.1.2012–1.1.2018).

The FAOA has not entered into any 
finance leases which would be on the 
balance sheet.

(in CHF)

15. Accrued licensing fees

2014 2013

Accrued licensing fees (short-term) 720,260 430,840

Accrued licensing fees (long-term) 1,798,820 802,680

Total accrued licensing fees 2,519,080 1,233,520

Fee income from the licensing of au-
dit firms is accrued over a period of 
5 years. 

16. Reserves

2014 2013

Reserves 4,500,000 4,500,000

Total Reserves 4,500,000 4,500,000

The FAOA accumulates a reserve for 
the exercise of its oversight activities 
up to a maximum amount of an annual 
budget (Art. 35 para. 3 AOA).

17. Licensing fees

2014 2013

Licensing fees individuals 430,500 422,300

Licensing fees audit firms 2,145,500 1,227,800

Commission on internet payments -35,826 -33,269

Reimbursement of licensing fees -47,950 -41,150

Accrual of licensing fees -1,716,400 -982,240

Release of accrued licensing fees from prior years 430,840 369,800

Total licensing fees 1,206,664 963,241
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Audit firm licences are limited to a pe-
riod of five years. Around two-thirds 
of FAOA licences granted to audit 
firms expired in the reporting year. 
The increase in licence fees is due to 
the large number of licence renewal 
applications. 

18. Other income

Other income includes, in particu-
lar, income from the loan of two 
staff members to FINMA (reporting 
year: CHF 388,562, prior year: CHF 
210,458). Other income also includes 

income from an FAOA seminar in 
Lausanne (around CHF 35,000) and 
income from FAOA proceedings (le-
gal costs).

Employer contributions comprise 
payments relating to national insur-
ance (state pension, invalidity, income 
compensation) occupational pension 
schemes, work-related accident in-
surance and daily sickness allowance 
insurance. A contribution of CHF 
25,000 (prior year CHF 25,000) made  

to the employer contribution reserve 
of the FAOA pension fund is included.

In the reporting year third party per-
sonnel costs primarily includes exter-
nal translation service charges.

On the one hand, the increase in 
personnel expense is due to the in-

creased staffing required to process 
the large number of licence renew-
al applications from audit firms in 
2014. On the other, two employees 
were lent to FINMA in the reporting 
year. The related expenses for both of 
these employees were reimbursed by 
FINMA (see Note 1 «Operating activ-
ities» and Note 18 «Other income»).

2014 2013

Staff compensation and Board member fees 3,884,808 3,461,591

Employer contributions 797,100 732,424

Other personnel expense 240,749 308,852

Third party personnel costs 46,310 92,440

Total personnel expense 4,968,967 4,595,307

20. Operating expense

2014 2013

Accommodation 196,422 196,422

Minor capital expenditure, fixed asset maintenance and leasing 12,132 13,844

Administrative expense 130,630 106,091

IT expense 312,026 364,944

Other operating expense 137,642 199,419

Total operating expense 788,852 880,720

21. Contingencies

At the balance sheet date there were 
no contingent liabilities and, in par-
ticular, no pending or threatened 
claims for damages.

22. Related party transactions
a. Definition of term «related parties»

Related parties are entities or individu-
als who can be influenced by the FAOA 
or can influence the FAOA. The follow-
ing groups are defined as related:

− The Federal Administration, within 
the meaning of Art. 6 Government 
and Administration Organisation 
Act (RVOG; SR 172.010.1)

− Swisscom, Post, Swiss Federal Rail-
ways
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− Members of the Board of Directors

− Members of the Executive Board

All transactions with related individu-
als and entities were entered into on 
the basis of normal customer, respec-
tively supplier, relationships and strict-
ly on arm’s length terms.  

b. Particular relationship with the 
Federal Government

The FAOA is a public-law institution of 
the Federal Government with separate 
legal identity (Art. 28 para. 2 AOA) and 
part of the de-centralised Federal Ad-
ministration. The Federal Government 
can infl uence the FAOA in many ways:

− The AOA is a federal law enact-
ed by the Federal Councillors. The 
AOO and other regulations are en-
acted by the Federal Council.

− The Federal Council elects the 
Board of Directors, appoints the 
Chairman and Vice-Chairman and 
determines compensation. It can 
also dismiss the members of the 
Board of Directors for signifi cant 
reasons (Art. 30 paras. 3, 5 and 6 
AOA).

− The Federal Council approves the 
creation and termination of the 
employment contract with the 
Chief Executive Offi cer (Art. 30a 
indent g AOA). 

− The Federal Council approves the 
affi liation agreement with PUBLICA 
(Art. 30a indent e AOA).

− The Federal Council approves the 
strategic goals and checks on an 
annual basis whether they have 
been met (Art. 30a indent b and 
Art. 38 para. 2 indent f AOA).

− The Federal Council approves the 
fi nancial statements and discharges 
the Board of Directors of its respon-
sibilities (Art. 30a indent m and Art. 
38 para. 2 indent g AOA).

− As auditor of the FAOA, the Swiss 
Federal Audit Offi ce audits the 
oversight authority in accordance 
with the CO (Art. 32 para. 2 AOA) 
and the Federal Auditing Act.

− The FAOA is required to invest ex-
cess funds with the Federal Gov-
ernment at market interest rates 
(Art. 36 para. 1 AOA).

If required for liquidity reasons, the 
Federal Government grants the FAOA 
loans at market interest rates (Art. 36 
para. 2 AOA). The FAOA is exempt 
from all federal, cantonal and munici-
pal taxes (Art. 37 AOA).

1 All social security contributions (employer 
and employee) are borne by the members 
of the Board of Directors. 

2 Includes additional taxable benefi ts such 
as bonuses and non-mandatory child al-
lowances.

3 Comprises pension/ invalidity / income com-
pensation insurance contribution, unem-
ployment insurance contribution, work-re-
lated/non-work-related accident insurance 
contribution, occupational pension savings 
contribution and risk premium.

Remuneration of the Board of Directors and Management

Board of Directors 1 2014 2013

Fees of Chairman 75 75

Fees of Vice-Chairman 38 38

Fees of other members 52 52

Total compensation of the members of the Board of Directors 165 165

Chief Executive Offi cer and Executive Board 2014 2013

Salary of Chief Executive Offi cer 256 253

Other benefi ts of Chief Executive Offi cer2 40 34

Salaries of other members 526 514

Other benefi ts of other members 74 51

Social security contributions3 159 157

Total compensation of the members of the Executive Board 1,055 1,009

in CHF thousands

In the reporting year individual, per-
formance-related salary increases 
were granted. No general infl ation 
adjustment was made.

23. Events after the balance 
sheet date

No events have occurred since the 
balance sheet date of 31 December 
2014 that impact the information-
al value of the 2014 fi nancial state-
ments.
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